# THESIS

# SOIL NITROGEN CYCLING IN AGROECOSYSTEMS AS MODIFIED BY BIOCHAR AMENDMENT AND PLANT PROCESSES

Submitted by

Katherine Rocci

Graduate Degree Program in Ecology

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Master of Science

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Summer 2019

Master's Committee:

Advisor: M. Francesca Cotrufo Co-Advisor: Steven Fonte

Joseph von Fischer

Copyright by Katherine S Rocci 2019

All Rights Reserved

# ABSTRACT

# SOIL NITROGEN CYCLING IN AGROECOSYSTEMS AS MODIFIED BY BIOCHAR AMENDMENT AND PLANT PROCESSES

Ecosystem productivity is dependent upon cycling of nutrients, such as nitrogen (N). In agricultural systems, humans have greatly altered N cycling through the application of synthetic fertilizers such that soil N in agroecosystems is lost at higher rates than N in unmanaged systems. A variety of strategies have been assessed to reduce losses of soil N through nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) emissions and leaching, which can negatively impact climate and water quality, respectively. The application of biochar, a carbon-rich soil amendment, has shown promise for increasing N retention in agricultural systems, but field and greenhouse studies often present less dramatic and often conflicting effects, suggesting the need for greater study in these environments. Further, the effects of biochar do not occur in isolation, but rather depend on plant processes that may affect soil N dynamics. This thesis explores these ideas through: (1) a greenhouse study considering the effects of different biochar types on N cycling with and without plants and (2) a field study looking at seasonal patterns of N cycling and fixation in alfalfa as altered by strategically-placed, low rates of biochar application. Study 1 sought to determine differential effects of biochar and plants, and raw and engineered biochar, on both fertilizer and innate soil N cycling using isotopically labelled fertilizer. While biochar effects on soil-derived N were minimal, we found that engineered biochar led to significantly higher leaching losses of fertilizer N. Plants, in

ii

contrast, were found to reduce N loss and increase overall recovery of fertilizer N. Study 2 focused on the effects of low and economically feasible application rates of two different biochars on N fixation, N loss, and mineral N availability over a growing season. We found no biochar effects on any N cycling parameter and, rather, found significant temporal effects in all N pools. Seasonal dynamics suggest connections between SIN availability and N fixation and loss. Indications of increased N loss with engineered biochar in Study 1 urge the need for greater study of biochars in combination with a variety of fertilizer types in order to provide the best recommendations to farmers. Lack of effects with biochar in Study 2 indicate that low application rates of biochar may not be useful for increasing N retention, suggesting the need to find a balance between economic and effective biochar application rates. Since both studies suggest that plant processes have more substantial impacts on N cycling than biochar amendment, via reduced N loss (Study 1) or increased symbiotic N input (Study 2), it is important that plants are included in more biochar studies such that the strength of biochar effects can be more realistically evaluated.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The first set of thanks needs to go to my advisors, Francesca and Steve, and my committee member, Joe. As with all research, this work had no shortage of issues and I am eternally grateful to Francesca and Steve for working through the many snags in this research to present this final product. Steve and Francesca were able to understand the human aspects of developing a scientific career path and I deeply appreciate their ability to be both amazing scientists and also empathetic mentors, who cared not just about my development as a scientist but also my development as a person. I am very, very thankful to be "raised" as a scientist in your labs. To Joe, thanks is given for your undying belief in my abilities and also in my research, even when I had lost that belief myself. Joe was helpful at crucial moments and that was greatly appreciated.

Thanks are also needed for both the Cotrufo and Agroecology lab groups who listened to issues with data and methods and were able to provide key insights. Special thanks are given to Erika Foster and Matt Ramlow for introducing me to the world of biochar and to Beth Avera for fighting through difficulties of nitrogen isotopes with me. A very huge thank you is given to Michelle Haddix, who never flinched away from a lab or field method question, no matter how trivial it seemed.

Carolita Landers was instrumental for lab and field help and her work and general good company during the Summer of 2018 were greatly appreciated. I was very lucky to have her as one of my first formal mentees. Help with greenhouse and field work by Rebecca Even, Bo Collins, and Laura Van der Pol, was also instrumental for

iv

this work. Members of the Trivedi lab (Pankaj, Kylie, Chanda, and Kris) were absolutely crucial for the microbial work in the alfalfa chapter and I greatly appreciate their time.

There are many people needed to make logistics work who are crucial for successful research. I am very thankful for Paul and Tammy at the CSU greenhouse for constructing shade structures for my plants and answering my endless questions, among other things. The alfalfa project would not have been possible without the help of Chris Malek, who invited us to do work at Lost Creek Land and Cattle Co., coordinated with me throughout the summer of 2018, and continues to answer my management questions.

I, of course, need to thank my friends and family. I was very lucky to enter an amazingly supportive graduate program, and special thanks is given to Sarah Leichty, Leena Vilonen, Shelby McClelland, and Erika Peirce for getting me through these first two years. Graduate school is not easy, but you all helped to lighten the load. My "real" family and folks outside of graduate school were desperately needed to keep my sanity and I am very grateful for them for doing so.

Lastly, I would like to thank Cool Planet Energy Systems, Inc. for funding this research. Special thanks are given to Lela Walker, Matt Smith, and Haijun Wan for their help in providing data on biochar properties and their thoughts on mechanisms for my results. Additional thanks are given to Brian Buege, Daren Daugaard, and Drew Jackson for their help in developing early stages of this research.

v

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
Chapter 1 – INTRODUCTION	1
1. Background	1
2. A brief review	2
2.1 Biochar effects on soil N pools and internal cycling	2
2.1.1 Soil inorganic N.	2
2.1.2 Soil organic N	.3
2.1.3 Microbial biomass N	4
2.2 Biochar effects on N fluxes to and from the soil	5
2.2.1 N fixation	5
2.2.2 Plant uptake	6
2.2.3 Gaseous losses	7
2.2.4 N leaching	8
3. Future directions	9
Chapter 2 – PLANT PRESENCE REDUCES ENGINEERED BIOCHAR-INDUCED	
. NITROGEN LOSS FROM AN ALKALINE TEMPERATE AGRICULTURA	۱L
SOIL	10
1. Introduction	10
2. Materials and Methods	14
2.1 Soil and biochars	14
2.2 Experimental design	15
2.3 Greenhouse experiment	17
2.4 Evaluation of N fluxes	18
2.5 Plant and bulk soil measurements	20
2.6 Soil N pools	20
2.7 Fertilizer-N recovery	21
2.8 Statistical analyses	22
3. Results	23
3.1 Plant growth	23
3.2 Treatment effects on N pools and pH	24
3.2.1 Plant N	24
3.2.2 Soil N	25
3.2.3 N losses through leaching and N2O	26
3.2.4 Recovery of fertilizer N.	30
4. Discussion	31
4.1 Biochar-plant interactions	31
4.2 Effect of N origin on N cycling	32
4.3 Biochar and plant effects on soil N cycling	33
4.4 Soil N losses	35
5. Conclusions	38

Chapter 3 – AGROECOSYSTEM NITROGEN DYNAMICS DEPEND MORE ON	
SEASONAL PATTERNS THAN LOW APPLICATION OF BIOCHAR IN A SANDY	
SOIL	40
1. Introduction	40
1.1 Biochar effects on N cycling	40
1.2 Legume effects on N cycling	41
1.3 Combined biochar-legume effects on N cycling	42
2. Materials and Methods	44
2.1 Study site	44
2.2 Biochars	45
2.3 Experimental design	46
2.4 Plant and soil samples collection	47
2.5 Plant and soil analyses	48
2.6 Enzyme and DNA analyses	49
2.7 Data analyses	51
3. Results	51
3.1 Plant and soil N dynamics	51
3.2 Microbial measurements	55
3.3 Correlations between measurements	57
4. Discussion	57
4.1 Seasonal trends in N cycling	59
4.2 Alfalfa-dandelion interactions	61
4.3 Microbial linkages to substrate availability	63
4.4 Lack of biochar effects	65
5. Conclusions	67
Chapter 4 – CONCLUSION	69
REFERENCES	72

# **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

# 1. Background

This thesis seeks to explore the modification of nitrogen (N) cycling in temperate agricultural systems in response to the addition of biochar and plant processes. Nitrogen, like many nutrients in this anthropogenic period, occupies a dual role as a villain and hero in ecosystems. Nitrogen is a fundamental element for all living things and it is often the limiting nutrient for plant growth, but excess N can have negative consequences for the larger environment. This is especially true in agroecosystems, where plant growth is a commodity, and thus N is often overapplied to ensure it is not limiting. Increasing crop performance is essential for issues of global food security and farm profitability, while increasing the efficiency of N use by crops means we need fewer inputs to achieve the same outputs. Sustainable agriculture is a movement that seeks to strike a balance between providing food, enhancing producer livelihoods, and protecting the environment (Reganold et al., 1990). Biochar, organic matter burned with low oxygen to 350-1000°C and applied to soil (Lehmann and Joseph, 2015), is a relatively new tool for sustainable agriculture. Research on biochar sprung from the discovery of terra preta de índio or Amazonian Dark Earths, highly fertile and organic matter-rich soils that resulted from biomass burning by Amerindians 100s to 1000s of years ago (Lehmann, 2009). As of 2013, more than 300 primary research articles had been published on biochar, and this number only continues to grow with a dedicated biochar journal first being published in 2019 (Gurwick et al., 2013; *Biochar*, Springer). However, even with an increasingly large body of literature on biochar, we are still faced with many questions and uncertainties related to the potential agronomic and environmental benefits of biochar in agricultural

soil. Further, biochar effects do not occur in isolation, so evaluating the effects of plant processes in tandem with biochar effects will more realistically represent an agricultural system.

### 2. A brief review

Biochar effects on N have been broadly covered in reviews (Clough, et al., 2013; Clough & Condron, 2010; Gul & Whalen, 2016) and meta-analyses (Borchard et al., 2019; Cayuela et al., 2014; Nguyen et al., 2017) so this introduction focuses on broad-scale patterns and gaps of knowledge occurring in the literature, with special focus on plant processes such as biological N fixation and plant N uptake. It is important to note that biochar and its effects are highly variable because they depend on both biochar factors, such as feedstock type, application rate, and physio-chemical properties, as well as soil factors, such as pH and texture.

# 2.1 Biochar effects on soil N pools and internal soil cycling

### 2.1.1 Soil inorganic N

Biochar effects on soil inorganic N (SIN) have been the subject of intense study, as SIN is often considered a proxy for the plant available N pool and thus understanding its response to biochar is a crucial part of understanding the response of crop growth. Two meta-analyses have collated studies of SIN modification by biochar and found contrasting results. Nguyen et al. (2017) found that addition of biochar to soil, on average, reduced soil  $NO_3^-$  -N and  $NH_4^+$  -N by 10 ± 1.6% and 11 ± 2%, respectively, but that this was highly dependent on fertilizer type, crop type, biochar feedstock, and experiment length. Interactions between these drivers further muddled the analysis and prevented evaluation of the effects of experimental design (i.e. greenhouse, field, or lab study) (Nguyen et al.,

2017). A more recent analysis by Borchard et al. (2019) elaborates on the findings of (Nguyen et al., 2017) but focused only on NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>. They, in contrast, found no effect of biochar, on average, on soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations but, similarly, found this was highly dependent on the length of the experiment, with longer experiments leading to greater reductions in soil NO<sub>3</sub>-, and fertilizer type. Additionally, both studies show variation in SIN with biochar application rate - significant reductions in SIN were found for application rates greater than 2% by mass (Nguyen et al., 2017) and 20 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> (Borchard et al., 2019). This is not surprising as biochar effects on SIN are largely related to its physical properties. Biochar has a large negatively charged surface area and thus has been suggested to retain NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> via sorption (Zheng et al., 2010). Because NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> is negatively charged, this pathway is less likely, rather, chemisorption is the suggested mechanism for retention of this species (Kammann et al., 2015). Biochar has also been shown to increase microbial biomass, potentially increasing microbial uptake of SIN, and reducing both forms of SIN in the soil (Gul & Whalen, 2016; Nguyen et al., 2017). Nitrification (i.e. the microbial oxidation of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> to NO<sub>3</sub>) can decrease with biochar amendment largely due to biochar-induced reduction of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> (Gul & Whalen, 2016). However, when biochar is added in concert with N fertilizer, this limitation can be overcome and biochar-induced increases in nitrifier communities, O<sub>2</sub> availability, and pH, may lead to increased transformation to NO<sub>3</sub>- (Prommer et al., 2014). While the mechanisms and effects for NH<sub>4</sub>+ retention with biochar addition are clear, contrasting reports of biochar effects on NO3<sup>-</sup> suggest the need for further study of this N species, especially in response to different fertilizer, crop, and biochar types.

2.1.2 Soil organic N

The organic N pool in the soil is generally less studied than SIN pools and this holds true for biochar studies as well. Organic N makes up the majority of soil N and represents a comparatively stable pool (Kaye et al., 2002), which is thus important to study. Organic N is a balance between plant and microbial inputs and outputs via dissolved organic N (DON) leaching and mineralization. Increased plant yields and microbial biomass with biochar addition suggest increased N inputs leading to a buildup of organic N (Jeffery et al., 2017; Gul et al., 2015; Prommer et al., 2014). However, differential reports on the effect of biochar on mineralization (Bruun et al., 2012; Güereña et al., 2013; Prommer et al., 2014) and a lack of reports on the effect of DON sorption and loss (exceptions include Dempster et al., 2012; Güereña et al., 2013; Prommer et al., 2014), make it difficult to determine the overall impacts of biochar on the soil organic N pool. Further, stability of organic N is further determined by microbial substrate use efficiency and availability of mineral surfaces (Cotrufo et al., 2013), making biochar effects dependent on soil properties. Further research examining losses from the organic N pool and evaluating biochar interactions with soil properties will allow us to better understand how biochar might affect this more stable form of N.

### 2.1.3 Microbial biomass N

The amount of microbial biomass N (MBN) in the soil is determined by the biomass of the microbial community and the amount of its N uptake. As mentioned above, many studies find increased microbial activity with biochar addition (e.g. Gomez et al., 2014), but this effect appears to be stronger for mid-temperature (300-600°C) biochars that underwent slow pyrolysis (Gul et al., 2015). Nitrogen immobilization by microbes is a balance of the processes of uptake and mineralization. As reported above, the effects of

biochar on mineralization are fairly variable. There is less known about effects on microbial N uptake with biochar, which has been reported to increase (Güereña et al., 2013) and has often been cited as a mechanism for reduced soil N availability (Case et al., 2012; Clough et al., 2013), but is not often measured. Both of these processes depend on the C:N ratio of the substrate used by microbes, and because biochar generally has a high C:N, its addition may lead to dominance of immobilization over mineralization and increased mining of soil organic matter for N (Nelissen et al., 2012; Chan & Xu, 2015), leading to greater MBN. However, there is little empirical evidence of these claims so much more work is needed in this area.

### 2.2 Biochar effects on N fluxes to and from the soil

### 2.2.1 N fixation

The effect of biochar on N fixation has received less attention than other aspects of the N cycle but results are promising. The majority of studies show increased N fixation with biochar addition (e.g. Güereña et al., 2015; Mia et al., 2014; Rondon et al., 2007), but most studies have been carried out in the lab or greenhouse (exceptions are Mia et al., 2018; Van Zwieten et al., 2015) and most use high application rates (≥10 tons ha<sup>-1</sup>). Suggested mechanisms for increased N fixation with biochar addition include reduced SIN (Rondon et al., 2007), introduction of micro- and macronutrients that are co-factors of the nitrogenase enzyme (namely P, B, K, and Mo; Rondon et al., 2007; Oram et al., 2014), and increased pH in acidic soils due to the commonly observed biochar-liming effect (Mia et al., 2014; Van Zwieten et al., 2015). However, it is important to evaluate more realistic (in field and lower application rates) scenarios of biochar amendment before concluding that biochar consistently has a positive effect on N fixation.

### 2.2.2 Plant uptake

Because biochar has been shown to reduce availability of SIN in the soil, there is concern that this could negatively affect plant growth and uptake of N. However, a metaanalysis indicated no effect of biochar on plant tissue N concentration (Biederman & Harpole, 2013) and individual studies find similar results (Dharmakeerthi et al., 2012; Schmidt et al., 2014). There are reports of increased N uptake with biochar amendment, but these are always in concert with fertilizer application (Dharmakeerthi et al., 2012; Saarnio et al., 2013), indicating the need for combining biochar with fertilizer addition to ensure positive plant effects with biochar amendment. While many biochar studies include fertilization, relatively few explicitly consider fertilizer-biochar interactions. Studies on biochar and fertilizer explicitly have focused on N dynamics, trace gas emission, and plant growth effects (Agegnehu et al., 2016; Nelissen et al., 2012; Zheng et al., 2012; Carter et al., 2013; Dharmakeerthi et al., 2012). Biochar alone was shown to increase barley yields relative to a control, although these yields increased with increasing fertilizer application rates (Agegnehu et al., 2016). In contrast to this, fertilization with biochar addition led to lower lettuce biomass than biochar alone in a pot study that used organic N fertilizers (Carter et al., 2013). Biochar-fertilizer interactions were observed by Zheng et al. (2012), where they found reduced N<sub>2</sub>O emissions with biochar addition, but only when fertilizer was also added, and by Agegnehu et al. (2016) and Dharmakeerthi et al. (2012) who found increased N use efficiency and plant N uptake, respectively, with biochar application and fertilization. The aforementioned studies used only one fertilizer type (urea, NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>, organic N), so a study by Nelissen et al. (2012) that evaluated different fertilizer types was important because fertilizer type has been found to

differentially affect SIN (Nguyen et al., 2017). While Nelissen et al. (2012) found reduced NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations and NO with biochar addition regardless of fertilizer type, they found that reductions in N<sub>2</sub>O emission only occurred when biochar was added with urea or KNO<sub>3</sub> and not NH<sub>4</sub>Cl. Because different forms of N are differentially available to plants and have varied chemical properties, we expect them to interact differently with biochar application. Further evaluation of various biochar-fertilizer combinations will allow for more useful input to farmers about which management applications are best suited for their goals.

No studies to our knowledge have assessed how plant-biochar interactions impact soil N cycling, which is crucial for understanding how biochar will affect N dynamics in field settings and for determining whether findings from lab studies are relevant to the field.

### 2.2.3 Gaseous losses

Gaseous losses of N represent a variety of N compounds with differential environmental effects. Nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) is a greenhouse gas that is 298 times more efficient at trapping heat than carbon dioxide (IPCC, 2007) and thus its emission has serious implications for climate. A meta-analysis has shown that on average, application of biochar reduces N<sub>2</sub>O emissions by 49% (Cayuela et al., 2015), likely through facilitation of complete denitrification to dinitrogen (N<sub>2</sub>) due to shifts in soil redox conditions (Cayuela et al., 2013; Ramlow & Cotrufo, 2017), reductions in substrate availability (Taghizadeh-Toosi et al., 2011), or reductions in enzymatic activity due to increased soil pH (Mørkved et al., 2007). However, the effect of decreased N<sub>2</sub>O emission is less apparent in field and greenhouse studies which generally have lower biochar application rates and soil moisture than lab studies (Cayuela et al., 2015). Additionally, no effect of biochar

(Ramlow et al., 2019) and increased  $N_2O$  emissions with biochar (Bruun et al., 2011; Verhoeven & Six, 2014) have also been reported, indicating the need for more studies under realistic agricultural conditions. Another form of gaseous N loss is nitric oxide (NO) emission. Biochar effects on NO are much less clear, as the two known studies that have measured NO found significant decreases, increases, and no effect with biochar addition, depending on application rates (Nelissen et al., 2014; Xiang et al., 2015). Only very high applications of biochar (20 t ha<sup>-1</sup>) led to significant reductions in NO emission (Nelissen et al., 2014), indicating the need to evaluate more economical application rates. Volatilization of ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>), a pollutant that can be deposited from the atmosphere to adjacent ecosystems, had largely been thought to be reduced with biochar addition due to sorption of NH<sub>3</sub> to the biochar surface (Clough & Condron, 2010). However, more recent field studies of this phenomenon have found more variable effects with some studies reporting increases (Sun et al., 2017; Sun et al., 2014) and decreases (Subedi et al., 2015; Sun et al., 2014) in NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization with biochar amendment. Increases in NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization may be due to biochar-induced pH increases (Sun et al., 2017). Much like with NO, more research is needed to determine conditions that allow for reduction of NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization with biochar addition.

# 2.2.4 N leaching

The majority of studies demonstrate reduced N leaching following biochar addition and this has been confirmed by a meta-analysis that reported an average 13% decrease in NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> leaching with biochar addition (Borchard et al., 2019). However, this effect has been posited to develop over time, since reduced NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> leaching is likely related to the development of anion exchange capacity through formation of positively charged

functional groups on the biochar surface (Kammann et al., 2015). A few studies have reported increased NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> leaching with biochar addition (Laird et al., 2010; Singh et al., 2010), but literature on NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and total N leaching shows consistent decreases (e.g. Ding et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2016). In contrast, the little work that has examined organic N losses has found no effect of biochar (Dempster et al., 2012; Güereña et al., 2013). Research focusing on specific N species, especially NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and DON, will increase our understanding of biochar impacts on leaching.

### 3 Future directions

Biochar has been proven as a useful agronomic and ecological tool in lab studies, but these beneficial effects are less consistent when evaluated in the field (e.g. Cayuela et al., 2015). More research evaluating management practices and conditions that are more realistic for producers is needed before the feasibility of biochar as an agronomically effective amendment can be fully determined. A major aspect of realism that needs to be assessed is biochar-plant interactions, as effects of biochar do not occur in isolation from plant effects. Organic N, N fixation, and microbial pools all require more research before directionality of biochar effects can be established. There is great promise for biochar to reduce N losses through leaching and gaseous emissions and to increase N retention, but this needs to be evaluated with lower biochar application rates and varied fertilizer types. Perhaps the most pressing need for biochar research though, is determining whether it is economically feasible and socially acceptable for farmers, which this thesis will not delve into, but is sorely needed for this field to move forward. The extreme case dependency of any given soil-biochar-plant combination furthers this issue, as it is difficult to make general recommendations to land managers.

# CHAPTER 2: PLANT PRESENCE REDUCES ENGINEERED BIOCHAR-INDUCED NITROGEN LOSS FROM AN ALKALINE TEMPERATE AGRICULTURAL SOIL

# 1. Introduction

Enhancing the efficiency of nitrogen (N) use in agricultural systems is crucial for reducing deleterious N losses and increasing profitability. Approximately 20% of the N added to agroecosystems for plant uptake is lost from the system, making cropping systems the largest source of reactive N in the biosphere (Fowler et al., 2013; Leach et al., 2012). The two major forms of N loss from agricultural systems are gaseous and leaching losses (Fowler et al., 2013). Gaseous N losses represent a wide array of compounds, including emissions of the greenhouse gas, nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ), which is important due to its negative effects on climate (Ravishankara et al., 2009). Leaching losses are also important due to their harmful downstream effects on water quality and ecosystem functioning (Billen et al., 2013). N loss is largely controlled by the availability of substrate, soil inorganic N (SIN), as well as other soil biophysical properties (Quemada et al., 2013; Sgouridis & Ullah, 2015). Due to differences in chemistry and associated mobility of different forms of SIN, it is crucial to understand the effect of agricultural practices on both ammonium ( $NH_4^+$ ) and nitrate ( $NO_3^-$ ). It is important to note that nitrification, i.e. the microbial oxidation of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> to NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, can be rapid and both  $NH_4^+$  and  $NO_3^-$  are commonly applied in fertilizers.

While a number of potential technologies have been proposed to enhance crop N use efficiency, biochar exists as a highly promising soil amendment for improving N retention as well as providing other agronomic and environmental benefits (Atkinson et

al., 2010; Nguyen et al., 2017; Lehmann and Joseph, 2015). Biochar is defined as a carbon-rich soil amendment created by heating biomass to 350-1000°C in the absence of, or with limited, oxygen (pyrolysis) (Lehmann and Joseph, 2015). While consistent yield benefits with biochar addition have been shown for highly weathered soils in the tropics, there is less certainty for temperate areas that constitute most of the world's agricultural lands (Jeffery et al., 2017). Thus, further research is needed in temperate systems to determine where biochar might be the most effective, and potentially offer co-benefits (beyond yield), such as impacts on N use efficiency and retention in agricultural soils.

Biochar has been suggested to increase SIN retention through both abiotic and biotic pathways. These retention pathways are suggested to reduce N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Butterbach-bahl et al., 2013) and N leaching (Laird et al., 2010) by reducing SIN availability (Nguyen et al., 2017). Abiotic pathways include chemisorption to biochar surfaces and physisorption in biochar pores (Lehmann and Joseph, 2015; Nguyen et al., 2017). Because the majority of functional groups on biochar surfaces are negatively charged, chemisorption is a more important retention pathway for NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> which can be retained via electrostatic attraction (Zheng et al., 2010). However, positively-charged functional groups, unconventional H-bonding, and cation bridging can serve as methods of chemisorption of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> to biochar surfaces (Kammann et al., 2015; Mukherjee et al., 2011; Amonette and Joseph, 2009). Biotic pathways of N retention with biochar are linked to its effects on soil biota. Generally, it has been found that biochar increases soil microbial biomass, through protection pathways or co-location with resources (Gomez et al., 2014; Gul & Whalen, 2016; Jiang et al., 2016; Pietikäinen et al., 2000; Saito,

1990). This may allow for more efficient microbial action which could provide more available N for plant use (Lehmann et al., 2011). Alternatively, higher microbial activity may lead to higher immobilization of inorganic N due to enhanced nutrient uptake by microbial communities (Nguyen et al., 2017). While abiotic and biotic pathways of N retention with biochar addition present great potential for mitigating N losses, there is a growing body of literature that shows no effect of biochar application on SIN retention or N losses (Foster et al., 2016; Ramlow et al., 2019; Verhoeven & Six, 2014) and a few studies have even reported greater losses of N through leaching (Singh et al., 2010) or N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Bruun et al., 2011; Verhoeven & Six, 2014) with biochar addition. Thus, it is crucial that we continue to investigate the conditions that allow for N retention or losses with biochar addition to soils. This is especially important in the eastern plains of Colorado, where our soil was collected and where nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) contamination of groundwater is highly problematic (Rupert, 2003).

Plants represent another biotic pathway of N retention that may interact with biochar and their effect is often neglected in biochar N retention studies. In sustainable agroecosystems, the goal is to support growth and nutrition of plants while mitigating environmental harm. Many studies have assessed biochar's effect on N cycling, but few explicitly consider the role of plants in N cycling, their interaction with biochar, and how their presence is affected by, and could contribute to, a sustainable agricultural system. Beyond Weng et al. (2015), who consider the effects of biochar-plant interactions on soil carbon priming effects, we know of no other study that has explicitly considered the role of plants by assessing biochar effects with and without their presence.

While biochar shows clear promise, its effects are highly dependent on biochar feedstock and production conditions as well as the properties of the soil in which it is applied (Crane-Droesch et al., 2013; Gul & Whalen, 2016; Nguyen et al., 2017). To combat some of this variability, investigators have begun to develop "designer" or "engineered" biochars which are meant to benefit specific aspects of a given system, although this work has mostly focused on pollution removal in wastewater (Mayer et al., 2014; Rajapaksha et al., 2016; Yao et al., 2013). Engineered biochar involves a post-treatment following the pyrolysis process, thus resulting in biochar with more physio-chemically consistent properties than that from pyrolysis alone. These post-treated biochars generally retain lower amounts of toxics substances on their surfaces, which can inhibit nitrification (Clough & Condron, 2010), and have more consistent porosity and surface area, potentially translating to more effective N use. Engineered biochars may lead to differential effects on soil N cycling and thus warrant greater study in soil systems.

To better understand how raw and engineered biochars interact with plants in regulating N dynamics in temperate agroecosystems, we looked at the effect of three different biochars on the fate of N fertilizer with and without lettuce plants in a greenhouse experiment using temperate agricultural soils from the eastern plains of Colorado, USA. To test the efficacy of engineered biochars, we compared practical application rates of one raw biochar and two engineered biochars. We used <sup>15</sup>N isotopically labeled NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> fertilizer to trace the fate of N fertilizer in the soil-plant system in response to our treatments. We hypothesized that treatments with engineered biochars and plants present would have the highest N recovery in the soil and plant

pools, and consequently the lowest N losses through leaching and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, due to plant N uptake and biochar-induced soil N retention. Additionally, we expected fertilizer NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> to be more mobile in the system and to account for a greater proportion of plant uptake and soil losses, as compared to soil-derived N, and that biochar addition would reduce this mobility.

### 2. Materials and Methods

# 2.1 Soil and biochars

To assess the effects of biochar and plant presence on N cycling in a temperate agricultural soil, we performed a greenhouse experiment in the Colorado State University (CSU) Plant Growth Facilities in Fort Collins, CO. For this experiment, we used a soil classified as a Fort Collins clay loam (Halvorson & Stewart, 2015) from the CSU Agricultural Research, Development, and Education Center (ARDEC) located 6.5 km north of Fort Collins, Colorado (40°39'10.3"N 104°59'46.6"W). Soil was collected in March 2018 to 20cm depth and passed through an 8mm sieve, air-dried, and homogenized before taking initial measurements. Initial soil total C and N concentrations, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and pH were measured as described below. Before the start of the experiment, soil contained 18.3 g C kg<sup>-1</sup> (including inorganic C), 1.16 g N kg<sup>-1</sup>, 2.03 mg NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N kg<sup>-1</sup>, and 10.3 mg NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> kg<sup>-1</sup> and had a pH of 9.1.

Biochars were created through slow pyrolysis and produced from coconut shell or pine feedstocks. The coconut shell feedstock was pyrolyzed at a maximum temperature of 600°C to produce an initial "raw" coconut biochar (RCB) and an "engineered" coconut biochar (ECB) that was further treated to provide more uniform physio-chemical properties. An "engineered" pine biochar (EPB) was also produced by

pyrolysis to a maximum temperature of 650°C and post-processed. Post-processing of biochars is proprietary information, so specific processes used are not reported here (Cool Planet, Inc., Greenwood Village, CO). Biochars were characterized by ultimate analyses (ASTM D3176-15, 2015) performed by Hazen Research, Inc. (Golden, CO) and other properties were reported by Cool Planet Energy Systems, Inc. (Camarillo, CA). Properties of each biochar are presented in Table 1.

Table 1: Selected properties for the three biochars used in the experiment: Raw coconut shell biochar (RCB), Engineered coconut shell biochar (ECB), and Engineered pine biochar (EPB). Electrical conductivity (ECe) represents the salinity of the biochars and hydrophobicity was measured using the Molarity of an Ethanol Drop (MED) method, where higher numbers are more hydrophobic materials.

	Organic	H:Corg	C:N	Ash	Moisture	рΗ	Surface	ECe	Porosity	Hydrop-	Bulk Density
Biochar	С	(molar	(mass	(%)	(%)		Area	(dS m <sup>-1</sup> )	(cc ml-1)	hobicity	(g cm⁻³)
	(%)	ratio)	ratio)				(m² g⁻¹)			-	
RCB	72.8	0.480	158	5.41	6.80	6.60	230	4.35	0.25	3	0.451
ECB	66.6	0.414	162	14.76	5.01	6.77	230	3.17	0.23	2	0.632
EPB	76.4	0.330	273	4.59	7.65	7.20	288	0.36	0.50	0	0.420

# 2.2 Experimental design

The greenhouse experiment consisted of four biochar application treatments: Raw coconut shell biochar (RCB), Engineered coconut shell biochar (ECB), and Engineered pine biochar (EPB) and a control with no biochar (C); and two plant treatments (with and without lettuce; *Lactuca sativa* var. Black Seeded Simpson) in a full-factorial design with four replicates (n=32). Lettuce was chosen as test plant for its fast growth, relatively small size, and because it is commonly grown in greenhouses (Corey et al., 1996; Dickerson, 1996).

The experiment was conducted using pots constructed out of 20 cm diameter PVC pipe cut to 20 cm lengths with a flat PVC base. A small hole (12 mm diameter) was drilled into the bottom of each pot to allow for drainage. A connector was fit into the hole and tubing was attached to ease collection of leachates as described below. This hole

was covered on the inside of the pot with double-layered window screen (1mm mesh size) to prevent soil loss (Fig. 1). A PVC chamber (7.5 cm tall x 20 cm dia.) was fit to the top of the PVC pot for headspace sampling for N<sub>2</sub>O flux measurements as described below. A hole (0.64 cm) drilled into the side of each chamber fitted with a 10 cm-long stainless-steel tube was used for ventilation. A thermocouple and septa were installed in the top of the chamber for measurement of chamber air temperature and chamber air collection, respectively. Reflective tape was adhered to the top of the chamber to minimize temperature change in the chamber during the measurement period. Rubber weather seal attached to the bottom of the chamber and tire innertubes cut to 5 cm widths were used to ensure an airtight seal between the pot and chamber during gas measurement (Fig. 1).





### 2.3 Greenhouse Experiment

The greenhouse experiment began on April 11<sup>th</sup>, 2018, when one lettuce seedling was planted in each pot, where applicable. Before planting, pots were filled with 8 mm-sieved, homogenized soil mixed with pure guartz sand at a 1.5:1 soil to sand ratio. Biochar was applied to respective pots before planting at a rate of 1% by volume (i.e., equivalent to a field application rate of 5-8 t ha<sup>-1</sup> depending on biochar bulk density; Table 1). The bottom of each pot was filled with 2.54 cm of sand to prevent soil loss and to facilitate leachate movement. Phosphorous (P) was added as Triple Super Phosphate (TSP) according to local recommendations at a rate of 224 kg P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup> (150 mg P kg<sup>-1</sup> soil) directly before transplanting the lettuce seedlings from potting soil (Ells, Schwartz, & Cranshaw, 1990). To trace fertilizer-derived N through the system, 6.93 g L<sup>-1</sup> of isotopically labelled KNO<sub>3</sub> (98 at. % <sup>15</sup>N, Sigma-Aldrich, Darmstadt, Germany) was mixed with 94.24 g L<sup>-1</sup> of unlabeled KNO<sub>3</sub> (0.37 at. % <sup>15</sup>N, Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), to create the target label for the experiment of 6.5 at. %<sup>15</sup>N. To obtain the fertilizer endmember for the mixing model, a sub-sample of the fertilizer solution was freeze-dried and measured on an elemental analyzer (Costech Analytical Technologies, Inc., Valencia, CA) coupled to a Delta V Advantage isotope ratio mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA), referenced below as the EA-IRMS. The isotopically diluted KNO<sub>3</sub> (6.5 at. %<sup>15</sup>N) was added at a rate of 50 mg N kg<sup>-1</sup> soil (equivalent to 112 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) split into two applications: (1) directly before the lettuce seedlings were transplanted and (2) 16 days after planting, to ensure that the lettuce plants had adequate N availability throughout the growing period (Ells, Schwartz, & Cranshaw, 1990). To simulate burial of fertilizer N in field plots, the <sup>15</sup>N labeled KNO<sub>3</sub>

was distributed vertically by drawing a syringe inserted to 5 cm depth out of the soil as the plunger was pushed down and was distributed horizontally by adding the fertilizer at 5 equally-spaced points in the pot. Six pots without labeled N treatment were also established to obtain the natural abundance <sup>15</sup>N values for subsequent calculations (see below).

All pots were watered bi-weekly to a pre-determined field capacity, based on weight. Field capacity was determined previously in the lab for each biochar-soil treatment separately to ensure uniform water potential across treatments. Briefly, field capacity was determined by taking the average difference in weight between three replicates of oven dry soil/sand or soil/sand/biochar mixtures and mixtures that were kept saturated in water for 24 hours. The target field capacities were 0.23, 0.27, 0.31, and 0.28 g water g<sup>-1</sup> dry media for C, RCB, ECB, and EPB, respectively.

The experiment was terminated when lettuce reached maturity, 36 days after initial transplanting to pots, on May 17<sup>th</sup>, 2018.

### 2.4 Evaluation of N fluxes

N lost through leaching and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions was measured throughout the greenhouse experiment. Leachates were collected every two weeks during the growth period (days 6, 20, 33). The first leachate collection occurred before adding the fertilizer and plant to establish a baseline for each pot. Leachates were collected by adding water in excess of the calculated volume needed to reach field capacity and waiting until water flowed from the hole in the bottom of the pot (Fig. 1). Amount of water added to induce leaching in each pot (300-1340 mL) as well as amount of leachate collected per pot (53-290 mL) were recorded. Leachate samples were then immediately frozen until

analysis. After leaching, soil water was assumed to return to field capacity, as field capacity is defined as the soil water content after allowing drainage by gravity. For non-leaching weeks (days 1, 13, 27), watering was achieved by weighing pots and then adding water to return pots to their estimated field capacity. For leachate analysis, samples were thawed, diluted 1:10 sample: deionized water, and measured for total N on a total nitrogen (TN) analyzer (Shimadzu Corp., Kyoto, Japan) for each leachate sampling. Leachates were then refrozen for three weeks and then thawed and pooled by microcosm across sampling times for analysis of N isotopic composition using the EA-IRMS. To prepare the composite samples for isotopic analysis, 25 mg of K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> was added to 4 mL of each pooled sample and freeze-dried.

N<sub>2</sub>O sampling occurred weekly, two days after watering (on days 2, 8, 15, 22, 29) and a baseline measurement was taken before plant transplanting. Headspace air was sampled using the static chamber method (Parkin & Venterea, 2010). After placing the chamber on top of a pot, three headspace air samples were drawn (at 0, 10 and 20 min after closure). N<sub>2</sub>O was measured for six pots at a time using six separate chambers such that the time 0, 10, and 20 samples were all collected at similar times (~1.5 min apart) for those six pots. For each sample, chamber air was mixed by drawing 35 mL of chamber air in and out of the syringe twice and a 25 mL sample was taken and transferred to a previously evacuated Exetainer® 12 mL glass vial. N<sub>2</sub>O concentrations in each vial were measured within a week from collection on a fully-automated Gas Chromatograph (Varian 3800, Varian Inc., Palo Alto, CA) at the USDA Agricultural Research Service in Fort Collins, CO. Nitrous oxide flux was calculated using linear regression over time or, when the data curvi-linearity index was greater than 1.2 (Parkin

& Venterea, 2010), by using the Hutchinson-Mosier method (Hutchinson & Mosier, 1981) to account for decreased rate of N<sub>2</sub>O efflux over chamber deployment time. Approximately 1/3 of the data was calculated using the Hutchinson-Mosier method, with the rest calculated using linear regression. Fluxes that fell below the detection limit were given a value of zero (~40% of the data). Cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions over the growing period were calculated using linear integration of the weekly flux measurements (Parkin & Venterea, 2010).

#### 2.5 Plant and bulk soil measurements

At harvest, each lettuce plant was cut at the base for determination of total aboveground biomass. Fresh samples were weighed, and a subsample was collected for determination of dry weight and for use in subsequent analyses. Each PVC pot was then emptied on top of an 8 mm sieve and roots were carefully collected from soil passing through the sieve for further analyses. A subsample of the soil was collected and refrigerated until analysis described below. A subsample of the 8mm sieved soil was sieved to 2mm. All plant root and aboveground biomass as well as a subsample of the 2 mm-sieved soil were oven-dried at 60°C, finely ground, and sub-samples were measured for total and isotopic N concentration on the EA-IRMS. Soil pH was measured on a mixture of air-dried, 2 mm-sieved soil and water (2:1 ratio by mass) using a pH electrode (Expandable IonAnalyzer EA 940, Orion Research, Jacksonville, FL).

### 2.6 Soil N pools

Soil NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations were determined by extracting a subsample (10 g) of the 8 mm-sieved bulk soil using 2M KCl (5:1 KCl/soil ratio by mass), shaking

for 1 hour, filtering (Whatman #40 ashless filter paper), and analyzing the extraction colorimetrically (Alpkem Flow Solution IV Automated wet chemistry system; O.I. Analytical, College Station, TX) (McTaggart & Smith, 1993) within one week from harvest. Soil inorganic N extractions were freeze-dried, and isotopic compositions were determined on the EA-IRMS. As a proxy for microbial biomass N (MBN), we used the chloroform-fumigation extraction method (Brooks et al., 1985) on 8 mm-sieved bulk soil, modified from a 24 hour to a 5-day incubation to ensure adequate time for chloroform to enter biochar pore spaces (Foster et al., 2016), with extractable N measured on the TN analyzer, within a week from harvest. Following Foster et al. (2016), we assessed biochar effects on N extraction efficiency by adding each biochar at the same rate as for the greenhouse experiment to 4 replicates of control soils immediately before fumigation. Nitrogen extracted from control soils which did not receive the biochar was not significantly different from those with biochar added, so uncorrected values were used for analysis. We used extractable N from the non-fumigated soils as the total dissolved N (DN) concentrations in the soil.

# 2.7 Fertilizer-N recovery

To determine the contribution of fertilizer-derived and soil-derived N to each N pool, we used the isotopic mixing model (Hauck & Bremner, 1976). The fraction of fertilizer-derived N (f<sub>F</sub>) in the pools of interest was determined using the equation:

$$f_{F} = ({}^{15}N_{s} - {}^{15}N_{N})/({}^{15}N_{F} - {}^{15}N_{N})$$

where  ${}^{15}N_{s}$ ,  ${}^{15}N_{F}$ , and  ${}^{15}N_{N}$  are the atom  ${}^{\circ}{}^{15}N$  of the sample, fertilizer (6.5 atom  ${}^{\circ}{}^{15}N$ ), and the natural abundance control sample, respectively. The model was applied to individual treatment reps and those values were used to calculate fractional contribution

of different sources to each measured pool by replicate. The natural abundance control values represent averages across controls with biochar (n=3) and those without (n=3). Averages of the biochar/soil and soil controls were used in models for biochar and control treatments, respectively. Fraction of N derived from the soil was determined using the equation  $f_N = 1 - f_F$ . Nitrogen concentrations in natural abundance controls for SIN were too low to obtain isotopic values. Thus, total soil N natural abundance values were used for the soil-derived endmember in the mixing models for SIN. While fractionations can be as high as -35‰ for nitrification (Hogberg, 1997), natural abundance fractionations can be ignored in heavy isotope enrichment experiments, such as this, because this fractionation has a negligible effect on the final distribution of the heavy isotope (Fry, 2006).

### 2.7 Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were carried out using R statistical software (R Core Team, 2017). Two-way ANOVA was used to examine the influence of biochar, plants, and their interaction on soil properties and N recovery in soil pools and one-way ANOVA was used to assess biochar effects on plant growth and N uptake (car; Fox and Weisberg, 2011). Pairwise comparisons (emmeans; Lenth, 2018) were used to determine differences within treatments and among fractional contributions from fertilizer-derived or soil-derived N. Repeated measures analysis was used to assess patterns of N<sub>2</sub>O emission and N leachate over time. When response variables did not fit the assumptions of the linear model, natural log and Box-Cox power transformations were assessed and applied for data analysis (Box & Cox, 1964). Total recovery data was analyzed using a reciprocal transformation to meet the assumptions of a normal

distribution. Pot water content varied between treatments during the growing period as a result of the imposed leaching events and our watering approach, and ECB treatment pots ended up producing a greater volume of leachate than the control pots (Table 2). Given that differences in pot water content (a proxy for water-filled pore space) may have affected plant growth and N dynamics, average pot weight following leaching and watering over the entire growth period (a proxy for water content) was added as a covariate to the model (Table 2). For models where adding the covariate changed results, statistics from that model are presented. Differences between treatments were considered significant at p < 0.05.

Table 2: Differences in cumulative leachate volume and average pot weight over the growing season and between treatments presented as average values  $\pm$  standard errors (n=4). Letters indicate significance differences between treatments, where biochar type is represented as Control (C), Raw coconut shell biochar (RCB), Engineered coconut shell biochar (ECB), and Engineered pine biochar (EPB).

	Experimental Treatments								
	(	0	R	СВ	ECB		EPB		
	Plant	No Plant	Plant	No Plant	Plant	No Plant	Plant	No Plant	
Total									
Leachate	689.50	673.75	688.75	711.50	1069.50	1301.00	801.50	901.25 ±	
Volume	± 55.22 <sup>A</sup>	± 70.93 <sup>A</sup>	± 50.52 <sup>A</sup>	± 29.43 <sup>A</sup>	± 26.96 <sup>A</sup>	± 245.84 <sup>B</sup>	± 90.87 <sup>A</sup>	80.96 <sup>AB</sup>	
(mL pot⁻¹)									
Average Pot Weight (g)	8463.16 ± 64.48 <sup>A</sup>	8523.10 ± 14.29 <sup>A</sup>	8525.77 ± 33.77 <sup>A</sup>	8578.06 ± 31.61 <sup>A</sup>	8502.18 ± 7.13 <sup>A</sup>	8666.64 ± 19.23 <sup>A</sup>	8491.65 ± 46.67 <sup>A</sup>	8543.19 ± 28.11^	

### 3. Results

### 3.1 Plant growth

There was a tendency towards higher aboveground biomass and higher total biomass for plants under ECB (Table 3). However, there were no significant effects of biochar treatment on any plant growth parameter (i.e., aboveground, belowground, and total biomass, and shoot:root ratio). Overall, plant growth and survival were good, however, one control plant had to be replaced at day 16. Excluding this plant in analysis of biomass and N uptake had no effect on statistical results.

# 3.2 Treatment effects on N pools and pH

# 3.2.1 Plant N

Plant N uptake mirrored plant growth in that there were not significant biochar effects on shoot or root N content (Table 3). There was a tendency for higher aboveground N uptake in the ECB treatment, but this was not significant for total N, fertilizer-derived N, or soil-derived N (Table 3). Shoots in the ECB treatment had approximately double the amount of mean total, fertilizer-derived, and soil-derived N as compared to the other biochar treatments. This pattern was largely driven by plant biomass differences, as plant N concentrations were very similar across biochar treatments (data not shown). Fertilizer-derived N made up 73-75% of shoot N and 72-75% of root N, which was significantly higher than plant N derived from the soil (p < 0.001).

Table 3: Plant growth and uptake data presented as mean  $\pm 1$  standard error (n=4) for each biochar type: Control (C), Raw coconut shell biochar (RCB), Engineered coconut shell biochar (ECB), and Engineered pine biochar (EPB). Biochar was not a significant predictor for any plant growth factor.

		biochai Type						
		С	RCB	ECB	EPB			
Aboveground biomass (g)		2.32 ± 0.71	$2.30 \pm 0.58$	3.83 ± 1.36	2.37 ± 0.54			
Belowground Biomass (g)		0.41 ± 0.08	$0.39 \pm 0.08$	$0.52 \pm 0.08$	$0.42 \pm 0.06$			
Total Biomass (g)		2.73 ± 0.78	$2.69 \pm 0.58$	4.35 ± 1.35	2.79 ± 0.56			
Shoot: root ratio		5.14 ± 1.20	6.42 ± 1.90	7.91 ± 3.35	5.99 ± 1.37			
Shoot N	Total	104.30 ± 28.68	97.76 ± 7.94	182.73 ± 70.02	112.05 ± 26.67			
Uptake	Fertilizer	76.78 ± 21.26	73.35 ± 5.86	133.73 ± 49.23	81.95 ± 18.63			
(mg N)	Soil	27.51 ± 7.86	24.42 ± 2.17	49.00 ± 20.97	30.09 ± 8.11			
Root N	Total	13.31 ± 2.51	7.19 ± 1.10	13.98 ± 1.12	10.87 ± 2.55			
Uptake	Fertilizer	9.68 ± 1.63	5.40 ± 0.97	10.48 ± 0.78	8.15 ± 1.97			
(mg N)	Soil	$3.63 \pm 0.98$	1.80 ± 0.17	3.50 ± 0.37	2.72 ± 0.59			
Diomass (g)   Total   Biomass (g)   Shoot: root   ratio   Shoot N   Uptake   (mg N)   Root N   Uptake   (mg N)	Total Fertilizer Soil Total Fertilizer Soil	$\begin{array}{c} 2.73 \pm 0.78 \\ \hline 5.14 \pm 1.20 \\ \hline 104.30 \pm 28.68 \\ \hline 76.78 \pm 21.26 \\ \hline 27.51 \pm 7.86 \\ \hline 13.31 \pm 2.51 \\ \hline 9.68 \pm 1.63 \\ \hline 3.63 \pm 0.98 \end{array}$	$2.69 \pm 0.58$ 6.42 ± 1.90 97.76 ± 7.94 73.35 ± 5.86 24.42 ± 2.17 7.19 ± 1.10 5.40 ± 0.97 1.80 ± 0.17	$\begin{array}{c} 4.35 \pm 1.35 \\ \hline 7.91 \pm 3.35 \\ \hline 182.73 \pm 70.02 \\ \hline 133.73 \pm 49.23 \\ \hline 49.00 \pm 20.97 \\ \hline 13.98 \pm 1.12 \\ \hline 10.48 \pm 0.78 \\ \hline 3.50 \pm 0.37 \end{array}$	$2.79 \pm 0.56$ $5.99 \pm 1.37$ $112.05 \pm 26.67$ $81.95 \pm 18.63$ $30.09 \pm 8.11$ $10.87 \pm 2.55$ $8.15 \pm 1.97$ $2.72 \pm 0.59$			

# 3.2.2 Soil N

In contrast to its effects on plant growth, biochar had significant effects on soil N pools, especially when considering N derived from fertilizer (Table 4). Biochar treatment was a significant predictor of total, soil-derived, and fertilizer-derived soil N. Unsurprisingly, soil-derived N made up a significantly higher portion of the total soil N pool than fertilizer-derived N (p< 0.01) and pairwise comparisons show the control as having significantly higher soil-derived N concentrations than EPB (p < 0.01) (Table 4). Similar effects were observed for fertilizer-derived N concentrations, but both the control and RCB were significantly higher than EPB and ECB (p < 0.05) (Table 4). Plant presence generally reduced the amount of N in soil pools, especially for fertilizer-derived N (p < 0.001) (Table 4).

Dissolved, mineral, and microbial biomass soil N pools were differentially affected by biochar application and plant presence (Fig. 2). Biochar had significant effects on total soil NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> concentrations and total MBN, but biochar was not a significant predictor for DN, dissolved organic N (DON), or total, soil-derived, or fertilizer-derived NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations (Table 4). Pairwise comparisons indicate significantly higher soil NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> concentrations in the control as compared to EPB (p = 0.003) and significantly higher MBN in RCB as compared to ECB (p < 0.02). Pots without plants had significantly higher total, fertilizer-derived, and soil-derived NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (p < 0.05; Fig. 2). In contrast, pairwise comparisons indicate higher soil NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> in plant treatments rather than no plant treatments (p < 0.001) and plant presence had no effect on MBN (Fig. 2).



Figure 2: Soil N concentrations for each biochar type with and without plants. Error bars represent 1 standard error (n=4). The main effect of biochar was significant for MBN and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> (p < 0.025) and the main effect of plant was significant for NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (p < 0.005). The interaction term was not significant so differences between plant and no plant within a given biochar type were not analyzed. Biochar types are represented as Control (C), Raw coconut shell biochar (RCB), Engineered coconut shell biochar (ECB), and Engineered pine biochar (EPB).

Biochar was not a significant predictor of soil pH, although there was a tendency

for higher pH in ECB and EPB, with mean values ~0.1 U higher than those with C and

RCB, respectively (Table 4). Plant presence had no effect on soil pH.

3.2.3 N losses through leaching and N<sub>2</sub>O

Engineered biochars had higher N losses through leaching than the control or

RCB treatments. Biochar effects on total leachate N losses were driven by differences

in fertilizer N loss among treatments, but fertilizer N did not make up a significantly

higher proportion of leachate N losses across treatments (p = 0.1; data not shown).

ECB had significantly higher cumulative leachate total and fertilizer-derived N losses

than C or RCB (p < 0.006). This pattern is driven by significantly higher leachate N losses in ECB as compared to RCB and the control for the first and second leaching events (p < 0.04; data not shown), significantly higher fertilizer N concentrations in leachate from ECB as compared to RCB (p < 0.05; Fig. 3), and significantly higher volume of leachate loss in ECB compared to all other biochar treatments (p < 0.01; Table 1). In models of leachate N concentration, pot weight (a proxy for water content), as well as biochar type, were significant predictors of soil-derived leachate N concentration (Fig. 3). Plant presence generally reduced the magnitude of leachate N losses, especially for N derived from fertilizer. Plant presence reduced leaching losses by 21% for total N (p < 0.01) and 27% for fertilizer N (p < 0.01). This pattern was largely driven by significantly higher leachate N losses from treatments without plants for the third leaching event (p < 0.001; data not shown). We did not assess pot water content as a covariate for total leachate N loss because this metric inherently includes differential volumetric loss between treatments. Plant was not a significant predictor of total, soil-derived, or fertilizer-derived leachate N concentrations (Fig. 3). There were not significant differences between biochar types or plant presence for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Table 4). Interactions between biochar and plant presence were not significant for leaching or N<sub>2</sub>O emissions.



Figure 3: Average leachate N concentration for each biochar type, with and without plants, broken into fertilizer- (white) and soil-derived (grey). Error bars represent 1 standard error (n=4). Letters denote significant difference in fertilizer-derived leachate N concentration from other biochar types within a plant group when average pot weight is included as a covariate. There were not significant differences between plant and no plant for total, soil-derived, or fertilizer-derived leachate N concentrations. The interaction term was not significant so differences between plant and no plant within a given biochar type were not analyzed. Average pot weight was a significant predictor of soil-derived leachate N concentration. Biochar types are represented as Control (C), Raw coconut shell biochar (RCB), Engineered coconut shell biochar (ECB), and Engineered pine biochar (EPB).
Table 4: Chemical analyses presented as mean  $\pm$  standard error and their associated p-values for each biochar type: Control (C), Raw coconut shell biochar (RCB), Engineered coconut shell biochar (ECB), and Engineered pine biochar (EPB), with and without plants. Blank spaces indicate that the p-value was above  $\alpha = 0.05$ . The interaction term and the covariate were either not significant or not applicable for all pools displayed below with the exception of total soil N (covariate, p = 0.002).

Experimental Treatment											
Pool	Fraction	С		RCB		ECB		EPB		Biochar	Plant
		Plant	No Plant	Plant	No Plant	Plant	No Plant	Plant	No Plant	Significance	Significance
Soil N (mg N g <sup>-1</sup> soil)	Total	82.02 ±	89.75 ±	76.78 ±	80.91 ±	78.54 ±	75.31 ±	70.73 ±	73.08 ±		
		5.22	2.08	3.78	1.69	3.34	1.20	7.77	0.77	<0.001	
	Fertilizer	3.09 ±	4.56 ±	3.09 ±	4.51 ±	1.47 ±	2.64 ±	2.14 ±	3.43 ±		
		0.32	0.05	0.39	0.32	0.41	0.38	0.43	0.15	<0.001	0.01
	Sail	78.93 ±	85.19 ±	73.69 ±	76.40 ±	77.07 ±	72.68 ±	68.60 ±	69.65 ±		
	5011	5.32	2.10	3.49	1.38	3.24	1.42	7.37	0.62	0.033	
	Total	34.70 ±	42.71 ±	36.93 ±	38.08 ±	50.62 ±	85.23 ±	42.97 ±	58.83 ±		
Cumulative		5.20	3.86	3.86	3.41	3.05	9.61	4.31	6.41	0.002	0.012
Leachate	Fertilizer	15.45 ±	18.76 ±	15.65 ±	19.12 ±	31.36 ±	54.51 ±	23.54 ±	33.74 ±		
N Loss (mg N)		1.95	2.33	1.42	2.28	0.292	12.69	2.88	4.85	<0.001	0.011
	Soil	19.25 ±	23.95 ±	21.28 ±	18.96 ±	19.25 ±	30.71 ±	19.43 ±	25.09 ±		
		3.75	1.71	2.81	1.42	2.83	6.52	1.56	2.38		0.045
Soil NO	Fertilizer	10.92 ±	22.46 ±	12.02 ±	17.56 ±	2.49 ±	13.82 ±	3.69 ±	20.26 ±		
(μg N g <sup>-1</sup> soil)		1.73	7.60	1.78	2.91	1.38	3.45	1.15	3.69		0.001
	Soil	16.17 ±	17.81 ±	13.40 ±	20.14 ±	6.73 ±	12.70 ±	12.67 ±	21.22 ±		
		2.29	6.13	2.22	0.87	1.93	1.9	2.74	2.34		0.042
Dissolved Total N		409.88 ±	494.20	389.88	448.49	306.74 ±	434.75	347.79	511.01		
(µg N g ⁻¹ soil)		36.94	± 76.81	± 11.29	± 30.97	23.26	± 20.61	± 19.20	± 40.66		<0.001
N <sub>2</sub> O Flux		19.77 ±	13.35 ±	29.65 ±	32.08 ±	43.77 ±	32.86 ±	41.77 ±	35.33 ±		
$(mg N_2 O m^{-2})$		3.47	4.17	5.58	5.05	5.82	9.19	10.23	16.48		
pН		8.57 ±	8.52 ±	8.56 ±	8.56 ±	8.65 ±	8.68 ±	8.76 ±	8.57 ±		
		0.03	0.04	0.03	0.03	0.43	0.03	0.07	0.06		

# 3.2.4 Recovery of fertilizer N

Total recovery of fertilizer N was significantly affected by biochar type (p = 0.01; Fig. 4), with pairwise comparisons showing non-significantly higher recovery in the control as compared to ECB and EPB (p < 0.08). Treatments with plants present had higher average recoveries (77-89%) than treatments without plants (64-83%) for a given biochar type but main effects of plant and the interaction were not significant (Fig. 4). Partitioning the recovery by aboveground biomass, belowground biomass, soil, and leachate pools mirrors patterns of N uptake and N leaching presented above, which indicated lower soil N in ECB, higher leaching losses with the engineered biochars, reduced leaching losses with plants present, and minimal differences between the control and RCB.



Figure 4: Recovery of fertilizer N in each pool with and without plants present. Error bars represent standard error (n=4). Biochar types are represented as Control (C), Raw coconut shell biochar (RCB), Engineered coconut shell biochar (ECB), and Engineered pine biochar (EPB).

# 4. Discussion

## 4.1 Biochar-plant interactions

While biochar has been shown as a promising tool for reducing SIN and N losses through leaching and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Cayuela et al., 2014; Laird et al, 2010; Nguyen et al., 2017), our results largely contradicted this, falling in line with other recent studies reporting no effects on or increased N losses with biochar addition to the system (Foster et al., 2016; Ramlow et al., 2019; Singh et al., 2010; Verhoeven & Six, 2014; Bruun et al., 2011). Additionally, we saw the largest biochar effects with our engineered (post-processed) biochar treatments, which have rarely been considered in agronomic contexts (although the soil contaminant literature is rich: reviewed in (Rajapaksha et al., 2016)), and thus are difficult to directly compare to data on biochar N interactions reported in previous research.

In contrast, we found that the presence of plants is useful for reducing losses of N, which is not surprising, as plants assimilate N for their growth. In our study, biochar and plants had no interacting effects, even for pools and fluxes for which they both, individually, had significant effects. This was surprising since there seemed to be differential effects of biochar type when plants were or were not present. We know of only one other study that has assessed biochar effects with and without plants and they found important interactions between these (Weng et al., 2015) but this discrepancy could be due to differences in response variables, biochar properties, or study systems. Further studies considering biochar-plant interactions will elucidate the validity of lab experiments without plants present for understanding effects of biochar application in cropping systems. These studies would be especially important in areas where N loss

can be very high and plant presence could have significant benefits, such as in sandy soils or areas with high fertilizer N application.

# 4.2 Effect of N origin on N cycling

Few studies have considered biochar effects on NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> fertilizer, which would be expected to behave differently than NH4<sup>+</sup> or organic N fertilizers. As we predicted, fertilizer N was much more mobile in the system as compared to soil-derived N and was more significantly affected by plant presence and biochar addition. Fertilizer N made up a higher proportion of plant N uptake, drove patterns of N loss through leaching, and was generally more affected by plant presence than soil-derived N. We observed significantly higher fertilizer N concentrations in leachates from ECB treatments, indicating an N mobilization effect for ECB amended soils that goes beyond higher volumetric losses in this treatment. We know of only one other study that has explicitly studied the effects of biochar on N cycling with NO<sub>3</sub> fertilizer application but they did not measure N leaching (Nelissen et al., 2014), which is especially important to study when applying a highly mobile fertilizer like KNO<sub>3</sub>. Additionally, they did not apply an isotopically labelled fertilizer, so they were unable to distinguish between losses of soiland fertilizer-derived N, for which we saw the largest leaching losses. However, Nelissen et al. (2014) did study other forms of N loss and found reduced emission of NO and N<sub>2</sub>O with application of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> fertilizer and biochar, which they attributed to reduced soil NO<sub>3</sub>. In contrast, we found no effect of biochar on N<sub>2</sub>O emission or soil NO<sub>3</sub>, but this may be attributed to our use of engineered biochar or our comparatively low application rate (5-8 t ha<sup>-1</sup> as compared to 20 t ha<sup>-1</sup>), which would reduce the likelihood

of the abiotic immobilization pathway that was suggested to reduce soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and consequently N<sub>2</sub>O emission (Nelissen et al., 2012).

The general reduction in fertilizer N pools and losses with plant presence found here are to be expected. While NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> is more energetically favorable for plant uptake, availability of N is more important than assimilation cost (Andersen et al., 2017). Since NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> was 3-20 times higher in our soils compared to NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, the expected greater plant uptake of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> likely led to reduced fertilizer-derived soil N and N loss in our study. *4.3 Biochar and plant effects on soil N cycling* 

We expected all biochar types to have somewhat similar effects on N cycling in our system, with respect to the control, with differences in the strength of effects between engineered and raw biochar. However, responses grouped similarly in engineered biochars vs. the raw biochar and control. The raw biochar and the control had higher soil-derived and fertilizer-derived soil N concentrations relative to the engineered biochars. These results contrast findings from a meta-analysis of increased total soil N with biochar addition, which were attributed to N input directly from the biochar (Biederman & Harpole, 2013). Our biochars were applied at low application rates (1% by volume; 0.39-0.58% by weight, depending on bulk density), to assess the validity of cost-effective biochar applications, and had low N contents (<0.5%), so addition of N directly from biochar amendment was limited. It is possible that high losses of fertilizer-derived soil N from engineered biochar treatments in the forms of leaching and plant uptake led to reduced soil N in these treatments.

Both organic and mineral N can represent important substrates for agricultural plant uptake and biochar may affect the availability of these (Clough et al., 2013;

Nasholm et al., 2000). Because we saw no differences in plant uptake of N between biochar treatments, it is unlikely that biochar limited N bioavailability. Biochar did not have effects on dissolved N pools in the soil. This is somewhat surprising as the few other studies who have measured these have found increased DON concentrations and sorption with biochar amendment, which were attributed to biochars high surface area and physical entrapment of DON in biochar pores (Güereña et al., 2013; Prommer et al., 2014). Since DON accounted for 90-99% of DN at the end of the experiment, we can expect similar mechanisms to explain the effect of biochar on both pools. The discrepancy in our results is likely due to our considerably lower application rates (5-8 t ha<sup>-1</sup> as compared to 12-72 t ha<sup>-1</sup>) which would reduce the effects of biochar physio-chemical properties.

A recent meta-analysis by Nguyen et al. (2017) indicated that biochar leads to general reduction in both NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> availability and our data showing reduced NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> concentrations in EPB-amended soils as compared to the control agree with this. Reduced NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> concentrations are generally attributed to sorption to negatively charged biochar surfaces or increased microbial immobilization (Deenik et al., 2010; Yao et al., 2012). Microbial immobilization did not seem to play a role, as MBN concentrations were very similar for the control and EPB. However, sorption could be the driving process for this result, as EPB had the highest surface area of the biochars applied (288 m<sup>2</sup> g<sup>-1</sup> vs. 230 m<sup>2</sup> g<sup>-1</sup> for RCB and ECB) and was thus likely to have the highest sorption potential. Higher NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> sorption supports our hypothesis of increased N retention in engineered biochars. However, we did not find any difference in total, soil-derived, and fertilizer-derived NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> in any of our treatments. This lack of effect has been reported by

a recent meta-analysis (Borchard et al., 2019) and found for a field experiment using the same soil type as ours (Ramlow et al., 2019), indicating that this soil type may not be ideal for biochar-induced NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> retention, because its relatively high clay content may already provide sorption effects also provided by biochar. However, a study with a similar soil amended with fertilizer and two different sized biochars found reduced NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> with biochar addition, albeit with a higher biochar application rate, which may explain this discrepancy (Zheng et al., 2012). Plant presence reduced NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and DN availability but was associated with increased NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> availability. This indicates that plants were not using NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> as a substrate, which is not surprising given the much higher availability of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (see Section 4.2).

## 4.4 Soil N losses

Losses in the form of leaching were more affected by biochar application and plant presence than losses as N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. We found higher losses through leaching in engineered biochar treatments as compared to the control and RCB. These high losses from engineered biochar-amended soils may explain reduced total and dissolved soil N in these treatments. While differences in watering are inherently included in cumulative leachate losses, we also saw significantly higher fertilizer-derived N concentrations in leachate under ECB as compared to RCB, indicating very high mobile N concentrations in ECB, where we would expect a diluted signal due to higher volumetric leachate loss. This was contrary to our expectations, as we expected the lowest losses in our engineered biochar treatments. Additionally, greater N loss through leaching with biochar addition is rarely seen in the literature. The majority of biochar studies report reduced leaching of NO<sub>3<sup>-</sup></sub> (Haider et al., 2017), NH4<sup>+</sup> (Ding et al., 2010; Singh et al.,

2010), or both (Laird et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2016) and a recent meta-analysis found a 13% average reduction in NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> leaching with biochar addition (Borchard et al., 2019). We found no effect of biochar on leachate N concentration in RCB and EPB as compared to the control. Anion exchange capacity (AEC) and, consequently, the ability of biochar to reduce NO<sub>3</sub> leaching, has been posited to develop over time (Borchard et al., 2019; Kammann et al., 2015). We performed a relatively short (36 day) experiment, which could explain the lack of biochar effect for EPB and RCB. However, we only know of two other studies that have reported increased NO<sub>3</sub> leaching with biochar addition and they attribute their findings to low AEC of the biochar and biochar-induced increases in nitrification (Laird et al., 2010; Singh et al., 2010). The suggested nitrification mechanism does not align with our data, as we see the lowest soil-derived NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> for ECB. The AEC mechanism suggested by Singh et al. (2010) is plausible for our study as NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> sorption has been shown to decrease with greater pH (Fidel et al., 2018) and our ECB treatment had higher mean pH than the control or RCB, albeit not significantly higher and by only 0.1 units. Additionally NO<sub>3</sub> leaching has been shown to increase with biochar addition, on average, for soils with pH greater than 7 and for low biochar application rates (<10 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) (Borchard et al., 2019). Other potential mechanisms for high N loss from ECB include the high ash content of ECB reducing the surface area available for sorption and 1.9 times higher microbial uptake of N in RCB compared to ECB, although low MBN values are unable to quantitatively account for differences in N loss. None of these explanations have robust support in the data so further work should be directed at the mechanisms underlying changes in N leaching with biochar and  $NO_3^{-}$  fertilizer application.

Effects of biochar on losses of total dissolved and dissolved soil organic N are less often studied than losses of SIN through leaching. Of the few studies who have pursued this work, two have reported no effect of biochar on DON losses (Dempster et al., 2012; Güereña et al., 2013). The low DN and DON concentrations in soils amended with ECB suggest higher losses of DN and DON from this treatment, indicating the need for further study of these forms of N loss with biochar addition.

It is clear from this data that plant presence is key for reducing leaching losses, regardless of biochar application. This is not surprising, as we expect plants to take up N, but it is important to consider when we extrapolate findings in the lab without plants to the field. Considering the presence of plants may reduce the strength of biochar effects, a greater number of field experiments evaluating the effect of biochar on N leaching is needed.

Unlike for leaching, plant presence did not affect cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and neither did biochar application. These results are somewhat surprising because plant presence reduced soil N and thus we would expect reduced N<sub>2</sub>O emission. However, pots without plants had consistently higher water contents than pots with plants (Table 2), potentially facilitating complete denitrification to N<sub>2</sub>, and thus offsetting benefits of plant uptake of N. Further, a large amount of our N<sub>2</sub>O data was below detection limit (~40%) so we were limited in our ability to assess these patterns. A meta-analysis has shown that biochar is able to reduce N<sub>2</sub>O emission across many soil and biochar types but this effect is reduced in greenhouse studies and for low application rates, due to reduced physical impacts on soil, which may help explain our results (Cayuela et al., 2014; Cayuela et al., 2015). Other studies have reported a lack of effect on N<sub>2</sub>O

emission with biochar application, particularly in field studies, which generally use lower biochar application rates and have lower soil moisture than studies in the lab (Ramlow et al., 2019; Schimmelpfennig et al., 2014; Cayuela et al., 2015). Thus, applying low rates of biochar in field and greenhouse settings may not be an effective tool for reducing N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. Other forms of gaseous N loss, such as nitric oxide and N<sub>2</sub>, were not evaluated in this study, but losses as N<sub>2</sub> were likely to be high, as N<sub>2</sub> emission can account for up to 85% of denitrification products in high pH (~8) soils such as ours (Wagena et al., 2017), which may explain our incomplete recovery of fertilizer N.

## 5. Conclusions

Contrary to our expectations, our greenhouse experiment assessing biochar-plant interactions on N cycling revealed that biochar addition to a temperate agricultural soil did not increase N retention. In fact, amendment with engineered biochars, especially the coconut feedstock biochar, enhanced leaching N losses and suggested higher plant growth (though not significant), indicating a mobilization effect with NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> fertilizer-derived N. This effect requires further study on post-processed biochars and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> fertilizer to ensure sustainable combinations of biochar and fertilizer types in agricultural systems. In contrast, addition of raw biochar had no effects on the system relative to the control, indicating that relatively low application rates of traditional biochar that is not post-processed may not significantly affect temperate agricultural alkaline soil N cycling. Additionally, plant presence played a crucial role for reducing N loss in our study, indicating that effects of biochar on N loss found in lab studies without plants may not be as strong when evaluated in cropping systems. This study suggests that biochar is

not effective for N retention in this system but underscores the value of plants for reducing N losses.

# CHAPTER 3: AGROECOSYSTEM NITROGEN DYNAMICS DEPEND MORE ON SEASONAL PATTERNS THAN LOW APPLICATION OF BIOCHAR IN A SANDY SOIL

## 1. Introduction

A major facet of the soil health and sustainable agriculture movements is supporting the ecosystem services soils provide (Kibblewhite et al., 2008). One key ecosystem service that is greatly altered by cultivation is the ability of soils to retain and cycle nutrients, especially nitrogen (N) (Galloway et al., 2003). Nitrogen is crucial for crop growth but over-application of fertilizers and adverse environmental conditions can lead to large losses of N from agroecosystems (Fowler et al., 2013). While there are many proposed solutions for enhancing N retention and cycling in agricultural systems, the use of N-fixing legumes and the application of biochar have both shown promising results (Nguyen et al., 2017; Tonitto et al., 2006).

### 1.1 Biochar effects on N cycling

Biochar is a soil amendment created by pyrolyzing biomass at high temperatures (350-1000°C), resulting in a carbon-rich, recalcitrant material that can persist in the soil for centuries (Lehmann and Joseph, 2015; Wang et al., 2016). Biochar has been proposed as a potential win-win-win solution for climate change mitigation, soil health, and agricultural production, due to its ability to provide carbon (C) sequestration while increasing microbial activity and crop yield (Biederman & Harpole, 2013). With respect to N, biochar has been posited to mitigate climate change and reduce environmental impacts of agricultural production by decreasing N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Butterbach-bahl et al., 2013) and N leaching (Laird et al., 2010), through reduction in soil inorganic N (SIN)

availability. The pathways for lower concentrations of SIN with biochar addition include both biotic and abiotic mechanisms. Biochar-induced increases in microbial activity may lead to higher immobilization of inorganic N (Nguyen et al., 2017). Additionally, the high surface area and porous nature of biochar allows for chemi- and physi-sorption of N compounds, respectively (Nguyen et al., 2017; Lehamann & Joseph, 2015). Further, biochar may also limit mineralization of organic matter through suppression of enzymatic activity via direct sorption of enzymes to the biochar surface (Foster et al., 2018). Biochar-induced reductions of L-leucine aminopeptidase (LAP) and  $\beta$ -1,4-Nacetylglucosaminidase (NAG) activities, which catalyze protein and chitin degradation, respectively, could thus also contribute to reduced mineral N availability through reduced breakdown of these nitrogenous compounds. Biochar is highly variable though, so assessing biochar with differential properties will allow for finer parsing of the controlling physio-chemical mechanisms for potential SIN reductions. Notably, biocharinduced SIN reductions have been shown to reduce crop yield, and thus biochar applications may require a co-amended N source to prevent growth limitation (Nelissen et al., 2014).

## 1.2 Legume effects on N cycling

Nitrogen limitation, which is prevalent in most terrestrial systems, and often exacerbated by biochar addition, may be overcome in systems with legumes, which are able to fix atmospheric dinitrogen (N<sub>2</sub>) into a bioavailable form. Additionally, diversifying cropping systems by adding a legume has been shown to enhance microbial biomass and bioavailable N, while reducing greenhouse gas emissions and external inputs (King & Hofmockel, 2017; Stagnari et al., 2017). However, our knowledge on N fixation lags

behind that of other forms of N cycling due to measurement difficulties, so it is important to employ multiple lines of evidence to measure changes in N fixation (Vitousek et al., 2013).

Extent of biological N fixation (BNF) in N-fixing plants can be determined using stable N isotopes, when plant-available soil N has a significantly different <sup>15</sup>N signal than the atmosphere (Hogberg, 1997). Proportion of N fixed by the plant can be determined by using the natural abundance isotope dilution method (Shearer & Kohl, 1986). Alternatively, when the reference plant and N-fixing plants  $\delta^{15}N$  values are not sufficiently separated to calculate N derived from the atmosphere, difference in  $\delta^{15}N$  values between the reference plant and N-fixer can indicate relative differences in N fixation between treatments and over time, as well as transfer of fixed N from the N-fixing plant to the reference plant (Chalk, 1998; Malik et al., 1991). Additionally, because the abundance of the nitrogenase reductase gene (nifH), which catalyzes reduction of N<sub>2</sub> to ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>), is correlated with N fixation in soil (Terakado-Tonooka et al., 2013), it represents another proxy for relative amount of N fixation.

## 1.3 Combined biochar-legume effects on N cycling

High rates of BNF are generally associated with low SIN, high phosphorus availability, and adequate availability of the micronutrients potassium, boron, molybdenum, iron, and sulfur, which are co-factors of the nitrogenase enzyme that is responsible for catalyzing fixation (Rubio & Ludden, 2008). Since reduced SIN forces a legume to rely more on BNF for N requirements, biochar application may lead to increased input of biologically-fixed N combined with reduced losses of SIN to the environment. Previous studies assessing the effect of biochar application on N fixation

have shown promising results (Güereña et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2017; Mia et al., 2014; Oram et al., 2014; Quilliam, DeLuca, & Jones, 2013; Rondon et al., 2007; Van Zwieten et al., 2015), although the number of field studies is limited (Mia et al., 2018; Van Zwieten et al., 2015) and the majority of studies have evaluated relatively high application rates ( $\geq 10$  tons ha<sup>-1</sup>). However, these high application rates are not economically feasible for farmers in temperate regions (Galinato et al., 2011), urging the need to test the effects of low biochar application rates for the overall assessment of biochar use as a sustainable agricultural practice. Low rate biochar applications, added in-row, in close proximity to the seed, have shown promise in an irrigated maize system (Foster et al., submitted). Further, Rajkovich et al. (2012) found significantly increased tissue N and N uptake with decreasing biochar application rates, such that there may be multiple agronomic benefits of low biochar application rates. Additionally, the effect of reduced SIN with biochar application is especially strong in coarse textured soils, making low rates of biochar application in sandy soils an intriguing agricultural practice to evaluate (Nguyen et al., 2017).

However, biochar amendment and N fixation do not occur in isolation, making it relevant to understand their effects on broader N cycling. Soil N cycling involves a variety of functional genes that, when quantified, can give insights into N transformations within the soil-plant-atmosphere system (Wallenstein & Vilgalys, 2005). The genes encoding nitrite reductase (nirK) and nitrous-oxide reductase (nosZ) are part of the process of denitrification. Because nirK catalyzes the reduction of nitrite to nitric oxide, it represents an environmentally-harmful gaseous loss pathway of N, whereas nosZ, which catalyzes the transformation of N<sub>2</sub>O to N<sub>2</sub>, represents a loss pathway that

does not have harmful climate effects. Thus, relative abundances of nirK and nosZ can be representative of potential for greater N loss as NO/N<sub>2</sub>O or N<sub>2</sub>, respectively. While addition of biochar generally reduces N loss as N<sub>2</sub>O (Cayuela et al., 2014), this effect is reduced in field studies (e.g. Ramlow et al., 2019), and legumes have been shown to increase emissions relative to non-N-fixers (Rochette & Janzen, 2005). Thus, understanding the effects of these combined management practices on N loss is important for a holistic view of N cycling.

To better understand how low biochar application rates could affect N cycling in alfalfa in semiarid agroecosystems, we looked at the effect of two different biochars on N cycling over the growing season in a commercial alfalfa field with sandy soil. We used natural abundance <sup>15</sup>N of alfalfa and dandelions, our reference plant, in combination with N gene abundance, enzymatic activity, and SIN availability, to assess N fixation, soil-plant N dynamics, and potential N loss. We hypothesized that biochar would increase N fixation and nifH abundance and reduce gene abundance associated with N loss through decreased SIN availability. We expected this effect to be stronger for biochar with higher surface area and C:N due to increased sorption of SIN and enzymes and immobilization of SIN, respectively. We also hypothesized that biochar would reduce SIN early in the growing season (Nelissen et al., 2014), leading to increased BNF in biochar treatments for the rest of the growing season.

#### 2. Materials & Methods

#### 2.1 Study site

The experiment was conducted on a commercial alfalfa (*Medicago sativa var. Pioneer 5010*) field at Lost Creek Land & Cattle Co (40°13'17.75"N, 104°19'28.35"W) in

Roggen, Colorado, USA from May to September 2019. At the time of sampling, the field had been in alfalfa for 5 years and has been maintained with organic amendments of compost and chicken litter, although precise timing and rates of these applications is not known. Previously, dating back to 1990, this field was in a rotation with corn, sugar beets, and beans. Soils are part of the Valent sand series and are classified as sandy using particle size distribution determined by the hydrometer method (Soil Science Division Staff, 1993). Before the start of the experiment, soils contained 5.8 g kg<sup>-1</sup> C, 0.66 g kg<sup>-1</sup> N, and had an average pH of 7.9. In 2018, compost sourced from feed lot manure (C:N  $\approx$  5) was applied at a rate of 7.4 tons ha<sup>-1</sup> in early March before the growing season began and harrowing was done in the last week of March and in early April. The field was pivot-irrigated continuously over the growing season for a total application of 28.17 inches of water between April and September 2018.

## 2.2 Biochars

Two biochars were assessed in this study: a pelletized pine biochar product (PBC) and an engineered coconut biochar (CBC). Biochars were created through continuous pyrolysis at maximum temperatures below 650°C and produced from pine and coconut shell feedstocks, respectively. Both biochars were post-processed to provide more uniform physio-chemical properties (proprietary information; Cool Planet, Inc., Greenwood Village, CO). PBC is an agglomerate product that is 38-40% biochar (proprietary information; Cool Planet, Inc., Greenwood Village, CO). Biochars were characterized by ultimate analyses (C, H, N, ash; ASTM D3176-15, 2015) performed by Wyoming Analytical Labs, Inc. (Laramie, WY) and all other properties were determined by Cool Planet Energy Systems, Inc. (pH, surface area, Ece; Camarillo, CA; Table 5),

with the exception of moisture, which was determined by mass difference of biochar as

applied and biochar oven-dried for 48 hours at 105°C.

lι	les were	measured for t	he agglo	merate p	product. Ele	ectrical	conductivity (E	ce) is an in	dicator of salini
	Biochar	Organic C (%)	H:C <sub>org</sub> (molar ratio)	C:N (mass ratio)	Ash (%)	pН	Surface Area (m²/g)	Moisture (%)	Ece (mmhos/cm)
	PBC	72.07*	0.659*	30*	1.02*	6.13	97-110	2.25	1.88
	CBC	62.25	0.418	148	1.88	7.61	200-300	4.29	1.92

Table 5: Selected properties for the two biochars used in the experiment: Pine biochar product (PBC) and Coconut shell biochar (CBC). Asterisks indicate values for the PBC biochar base material. All other values were measured for the agglomerate product. Electrical conductivity (Ece) is an indicator of salinity.

## 2.3 Experimental design

The experiment consisted of three biochar treatments: application of the PBC, application of the CBC, and no biochar application, as a control (C), each replicated six times in six blocks (n = 18).

The six blocks, each with three 4 m<sup>2</sup> treatment plots, were established approximately two weeks after harrowing, on April 18<sup>th</sup>, 2018 (Fig. 5). Biochar was incorporated by hand at plot establishment, at a rate of 112 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> (45 g plot<sup>-1</sup>) by replicating a no-till drill with minimal soil disturbance to ensure proximity to alfalfa roots. Application rate and method of application were determined based on recommended broadcast rates provided by Cool Planet for row crops (Cool Planet, 2019) and on recommended application methods provided by Cool Planet for perennial crops (Cool Planet, 2019), respectively. Biochar was applied in rows spaced approximately 22 cm apart to 3 cm depth and soil was quickly covered to prevent biochar loss. Initial soil samples were taken to a depth of 20 cm with an auger to assess any differences between blocks. Blocks were located to ensure dandelions (our reference plant; *Taraxacum officinale*) were within the block area.



Figure 5: Plot layout for the experiment. All blocks were between the second and third wheel tracks of the pivot.

### 2.2 Plant and soil samples collection

Alfalfa was harvested four times during the growing season, on May 30<sup>th</sup>, July 4<sup>th</sup>, August 6<sup>th</sup>, and September 21<sup>st</sup>, which will be further referred to as H1 (Harvest 1), H2, H3, and H4, as the harvests were relatively regularly spaced and represent similar growth stages of alfalfa (flowering). Harvests were conducted a few days before the harvest of the whole field for hay production which was determined by the farm managers. At each harvest, biomass was cut by hand to height of approximately 4 cm and was collected from only the inner 1 m<sup>2</sup> of each plot to minimize potential edge effects. At each cutting, fresh alfalfa biomass was weighed in the field and a sub-sample was taken for determination of dry weight and further analyses in the lab. Additionally, for H2-H4, dandelions located within 2 m of each block were collected for <sup>15</sup>N analysis. At each harvest, five soil cores were taken with an auger to 20 cm depth within each 1 m<sup>2</sup> subplot and pooled for further analyses. Plant and soil samples were kept in a cooler

until return to Colorado State University where soil samples were stored at 4°C until analysis and plants were oven-dried at 60°C. Subsamples of H4 soils were sieved to 2 mm and stored at -80°C for measurement of extracellular enzyme activity (5 g) and gene abundance (5 g).

#### 2.3 Plant and soil analyses

Oven-dried alfalfa and dandelion aboveground biomass from each treatment plot at each harvest (only H2-H4 for dandelions) were ground to powder, and sub-samples were measured for N concentration and  $\delta^{15}$ N isotopic composition on an elemental analyzer (Costech Analytical Technologies, Inc., Valencia, CA) coupled to a Delta V Advantage isotope ratio mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA). Alfalfa aboveground N stocks for each plot at each harvest were estimated by multiplying N concentrations by aboveground dry weights.

The differential isotopic values of an N-fixer (alfalfa) and a reference plant (dandelion) can indicate relative amounts of N fixation using the assumption that all dandelion N is derived from the soil which has a specific  $\delta^{15}$ N value, whereas alfalfa will have N from both the soil and atmosphere. To use a reference plant, you must assume that it has access to the same pool of N as the N-fixing plant. Because dandelions are perennials and can have very deep tap roots (generally ~1 m but up to 4.6 m; Longyear, 1916; Rodriguez, 2019), comparable to root depths of 2.1-3.7 m seen in mature alfalfa (Weaver, 1926), they may be considered an appropriate reference plants for alfalfa and their N isotopic values can be used to represent plant-available soil N. Thus, greater difference between alfalfa and dandelion  $\delta^{15}$ N will indicate greater contribution of atmospheric N to alfalfa N stocks.

Within a week from sampling, soil NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations were determined by extracting a subsample of field-wet bulk soil using 2M KCI (5:1 soil/KCI ratio by mass), shaking for 1 hour, filtering, (Whatman #40 ashless filter paper), and analyzing the extraction colorimetrically (Alpkem Flow Solution IV Automated wet chemistry system; O.I. Analytical, College Station, TX) (McTaggart & Smith, 1993). Because of the sandy and homogenous nature of the soil, sieving was not necessary, but all roots were removed before performing these analyses.

#### 2.4 Enzyme and DNA analyses

We assessed activities of two common extracellular enzymes that are associated with the degradation of nitrogenous compounds (LAP & NAG), to assess biochar effects on N mineralization. These were analyzed using a high throughput fluorometric assay, described by Bell et al. (2013). Bailey et al. (2011) found that fluorometric assays account for potential biochar sorption of enzymes better than colorimetric assays. Briefly, standard plates were prepared by creating a series of 16 dilutions  $(0.4-100\mu M)$ of 4-Methlumbelliferone and 7-Amino-4-methylcoumarium stock solutions. To assess the quenching of fluorescence due to floating soil or organic particles, these stock solutions were combined with 800 µL of sample and read as described for the substrate-sample mixtures, below. To assess enzyme activity, 1 g of soil was combined with 30mL of Tris buffer and shaken for 20 minutes. A combination of 800 µL of the soil solution and 200 µL of the substrates was shaken for 3 hours. Standard-sample and substrate-sample solutions were transferred to black plates and read at 365nm excitation and 450nm emission on an Infinite M200 Microplate Reader (Tecan Trading AG, Switzerland).

Abundances of N cycling genes (nifH, nirK, and nosZ) and microbial markers (bacteria and fungi) were determined using qPCR, to estimate potential for N cycling and microbial processes, respectively. Extraction and qPCR followed the methods of Hallin et al. (2009). Briefly, DNA was extracted using a Powersoil® DNA Isolation Kit (Mo Bio Laboratories, Carlsbad, CA, USA) as per the manufacturer's instructions. Standard curves with 8 ten-fold dilutions were prepared using plasmids for each gene and extracted DNA was combined with respective primers for measurement of DNA copy numbers on a Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., Hercules, CA, USA). Primers and conditions used for each measured gene are reported in Table 6.

Primers Sequence (5'-3') Thermal Conditions Reference Total **Bacteria** 95°C, 15 min, 1 cycle Fierer et Eub338 ACT CCT ACG GGA GGC AGC AG 95°C for 1 min, 53°C for 30 s, al., 2005 Eub518 ATT ACC GCG GCT GCT GG 72°C for 1 min, 40 cycles Total Fungi Fierer et TCC GTA GGT GAA CCT GCG G ITS1f Same as for bacteria al., 2005 5.8s CGC TGC GTT CTT CAT CG nirK 95 C, 15 min, 1 cycle 95 nirK876 ATY GGC GGV CAY GGC GA 95 C for 15 s. 63 to 58 C for nirK1040 GCC TCG ATC AGR TTR TGG TT 30 s (-1 C by cycle), 72 C for Hallin et 30 s, 80 C for 15 s, 6 cycles al., 2009 95 C for 15 s, 60 C for 30 s, 72 C for 30 s, 80 C for 15 s, 40 cycles 95°C for 15 s, 60 to 95°C, 1 cycle nifH TGC GAT CCS AAT GCB GAC TC po1F Hallin et Same as for nirK ATS GCC ATC CTY TCR CCG GA al., 2009 po1R 95°C for 15 s, 1 cycle nosZ 95 C, 15 min, 1 cycle 95 C for nosZ2F CGC RAC GGC AAS AAG GTS MSS GT 15 s, 65 to 60 C for 30 s (-1 C nosZ2R CAK RTG CAK SGC RTG GCA GAA by cycle), 72 C for 30 s, 80 C Hallin et for 15 s, 6 cycles 95 C for 15 al., 2009 s, 60 C for 30 s, 72 C for 30

Table 6: Primers and PCR conditions used for gene analysis (adapted from Trivedi et al., 2011).

s, 80 C for 15 s, 40 cycles 95°C for 15 s, 60 to 95°C, 1 cycle

## 2.5 Data analyses

Statistical analyses were carried out using R statistical software (R Core Team, 2017). Repeated measures analysis was used to assess patterns of alfalfa above ground biomass production, N uptake, alfalfa and dandelion  $\delta^{15}$ N, and SIN between harvests and in response to different biochar types with block as a random effect (Ime4; Bates et al., 2015). One-way ANOVA with block as a random effect was used to examine the influence of biochar on enzyme activity and gene abundance. Pairwise comparisons (emmeans; Lenth, 2018) were used to determine differences between individual biochar types. When response variables did not fit the assumptions of the linear model, natural log and Box-Cox power transformations were assessed and applied for data analysis (Box & Cox, 1964). Correlations between alfalfa δ<sup>15</sup>N and SIN parameters used data from the entire growing season. Correlations between gene abundance and SIN parameters used data only from H4. For correlations between alfalfa  $\delta^{15}$ N and percent of SIN as NO<sub>3</sub>, the latter was log transformed to meet the assumptions of normality for the residuals. All other data fit the assumptions of the normal model. Significant differences between treatments and correlation significance were determined where P < 0.05.

## 3. Results

## 3.1 Plant and soil N dynamics

Seasonal trends were much more pronounced than biochar effects for all measures of plant and soil N dynamics. Biochar type was not a significant predictor for alfalfa

biomass, alfalfa N concentration (Table 7), alfalfa or dandelion δ<sup>15</sup>N, or SIN. However, date was significant for all of these pools with the exception of alfalfa N concentration. The largest alfalfa harvest was at the beginning of the season, as alfalfa biomass for H1 was around 600 g m<sup>-2</sup> for all treatments, 1.5-2 times higher than all other harvests ( $p < 10^{-2}$ 0.001; Fig. 6). Similarly, soil NO<sub>3</sub> was relatively high for H1 as compared to the other harvests (p < 0.001) as well as for H2 compared to H4 (p = 0.004; Fig. 7). In contrast, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> was relatively low at the beginning of the growing season and increased through H3, such that H1 was significantly lower than all other dates ( $p \le 0.001$ ) and H2 and H3 were significantly higher than H4 (p < 0.021; Fig. 7). Additionally, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> dominated the total SIN pattern at the end of the growing season as H2 and H3 had significantly higher SIN than H4 (p < 0.002; Fig. 7). These patterns in mineral N led to a significant decrease in percent of SIN as  $NO_3^{-}$  over time (p < 0.04). Additionally, the interaction between harvest date and biochar type was significant for percent of SIN as NO<sub>3</sub> – the control had significantly greater SIN as NO3<sup>-</sup> as compared to the treatments with biochar for H1 (p < 0.006; Fig. 7).

Alfalfa  $\delta^{15}N$  values ranged from -0.93 to 1.15 ‰ and followed a similar pattern as NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> values over time, such that H1 was significantly lower than all other harvests (p < 0.001) and H2 was significantly lower than H3 and H4 (p < 0.001; Fig. 8). Dandelion  $\delta^{15}N$  values also increased over time (p < 0.04) and by H4 were not significantly different from alfalfa  $\delta^{15}N$  values (Fig. 8).



Figure 6: Cumulative biomass harvested over the growing season by biochar type. Error bars represent standard error (n=6). Biochar types are represented as Control (C; white), Coconut shell biochar (CBC; dark grey), Pine biochar (PBC; light grey). Date was a significant predictor for alfalfa biomass (p < 0.001), which was not predicted by biochar type nor the biochar by date interaction.



Figure 7: Average SIN concentration over time for each biochar type, broken into NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> (light gray) and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (dark gray). Error bars represent standard error (n=6). There were not significant differences between biochar types nor significant interactions for total SIN or individual inorganic N species. Date was a significant predictor for total SIN (p < 0.001) and individual inorganic N species (p < 0.001). The interaction was significant for percent of SIN as NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, which was significantly higher in the control for H1 (p < 0.006). Biochar types are represented as Control (C), Coconut shell biochar (CBC), and Pine biochar (PBC).



Figure 8: Average plant  $\delta^{15}N$  over time for alfalfa under biochar treatments and for dandelions. Error bars represent 1 standard error (n=6). Asterisks denote significant difference between alfalfa and dandelion values. There were not significant differences between biochar types for alfalfa  $\delta^{15}N$ . Date was a significant predictor for alfalfa (p < 0.001) and dandelion (p = 0.042)  $\delta^{15}N$ . Treatments are represented as alfalfa under Control (C), Coconut shell biochar (CBC), and Pine biochar (PBC), and Dandelions averaged across treatments (D).

Table 7: Aboveground N concentration of alfalfa presented as mean  $\pm$  standard error (n=6) for each biochar type: Control (C), Coconut shell biochar (CBC), Pine biochar (PBC). The date effect, biochar effect, and interaction term were not significant for this metric.

Pool	Sampling Date	Units	Biochar Type			
1 001	Sampling Date		С	CBC	PBC	
Aboveground	May 13th (H1)		3.41 ± 0.24	3.03 ± 0.12	3.55 ± 0.16	
	July 4th (H2) August 6th (H3)	<i>mg N</i> g <sup>−1</sup> biomass	2.82 ± 0.26	$3.04 \pm 0.04$	3.31 ± 0.20	
concentration			3.04 ± 0.16	3.16 ± 0.26	$3.68 \pm 0.30$	
	September 21st (H4)		3.31 ± 0.21	3.21 ±0.25	3.18 ± 0.12	

## 3.2 Microbial measurements

There was a trend towards higher nirK and nosZ abundance in PBC treatments,

but biochar type was not a significant predictor of these values. This relationship was

strongest for nirK, where biochar type was marginally significant and PBC had twice the average DNA copy numbers as compared to CBC (p = 0.064; Fig. 9). In contrast, nifH was not significantly different between any treatments, but mean nifH copy numbers were ~1.5 times higher in the control relative to the biochar treatments (Fig. 9). Biochar type was not a significant predictor for fungal and bacterial abundance, nor enzyme activity (Table 8).



Figure 9: Average gene abundance for each N functional gene by biochar type. Error bars represent standard error (n=6). There were not significant differences between biochar types for any functional genes. Biochar types are represented as Control (C; white), Coconut shell biochar (CBC; dark grey), Pine biochar (PBC; light grey).

Table 8: Microbial analyses presented as mean  $\pm$  standard error (n = 6) for each biochar type: Control (C), Coconut shell biochar (CBC), Pine biochar (PBC). All microbial analyses were done for the H4 (September 21<sup>st</sup>) sampling date. Biochar type was not a significant predictor for any of these measurements. Note that the high error for the control for NAG is being driven by a single value and when it is removed there are still no significant differences between biochar treatments.

Measurement	Units	C CBC PBC					
Bacterial DNA abundance	copies g⁻¹soil	7.95e10° ± 3.91e10°	1.49e10 <sup>9</sup> ± 3.24e10 <sup>8</sup>	3.57e10 <sup>9</sup> ± 7.92e10 <sup>8</sup>			

Fungal DNA abundance	copies g⁻¹soil	2.33e10 <sup>11</sup> ± 1.03e10 <sup>11</sup>	3.52e1011 ± 1.62e1011	1.78e10 <sup>11</sup> ± 9.77e10 <sup>10</sup>
LAP	mmol g⁻¹soil	4.70 ± 0.81	2.87 ± 1.07	5.54 ± 1.50
NAG	mmol g⁻¹soil	7.93 ± 4.28	$3.65 \pm 0.83$	3.55 ± 1.17

#### 3.3 Correlations between measurements

To assess relationships between substrates and soil N processes, we examined strength of the relationships between SIN and isotopic values, microbial abundance, and enzyme activity (Fig. 10). Correlations used data for all treatments and times, since they were used to identify overarching drivers for change. Soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> both correlated with alfalfa  $\delta^{15}$ N (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>: r = -0.544; p < 0.001, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>: r = 0.420; p < 0.001), but total SIN did not. The strongest correlation with alfalfa  $\delta^{15}$ N was for percent of SIN as NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (r = -0.606; p < 0.001), which, like with NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, was negatively related to alfalfa  $\delta^{15}$ N. In contrast, nosZ gene abundance was only related to total SIN (r = 0.487; p = 0.041) and not NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, nor percent of SIN as NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>. Similarly, nirK correlated with NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> (r = 0.582; p = 0.011) and total SIN (r = 0.562; p = 0.015), but not NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> nor percent of SIN as NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>. The abundances of nifH, bacteria, and fungi, and activities of LAP and NAG were not significantly correlated with any measure of SIN.

#### 3. Discussion

We found no effects of biochar on N cycling, microbial activity, nor plant growth in our system and rather found that time over the growing season was a more important predictor of N dynamics in this alfalfa field. Additionally, we found that proxies for N fixation and denitrification were differentially related to measures of SIN, which may have important implications for agricultural N management.



Figure 10: Correlations between total SIN or relative abundance of a given N species and metrics explicitly associated with N cycling (alfalfa  $\delta^{15}N$ , nirK, nosZ, and nifH). Points in the  $\delta^{15}N$  plots (top panels) are colored by the harvest date because this was a significant predictor of these metrics. R<sup>2</sup> and p-values for each correlation are provided in the corner of each plot.

## 3.1 Seasonal trends in N cycling

While we expected a decrease in SIN over the growing season, changes in individual SIN species led to a more complex pattern in mineral N availability. There was a shift from approximately 60% of SIN as  $NO_3^-$  to less than 20% of SIN as  $NO_3^-$  over the growing season that was correlated with alfalfa  $\delta^{15}N$ . This correlation could be explained by a few scenarios:

1. We could assume higher (more enriched)  $\delta^{15}N$  values are associated with greater BNF because dandelion  $\delta^{15}$ N values began negative early in the season. Thus, negative values likely represent bioavailable soil N from previously fixed N or remnant litter from past growing seasons. The significant negative correlation between percent of SIN as NO<sub>3<sup>-</sup></sub> and  $\delta^{15}$ N could suggest that early in the growing season plants derived their N from relatively high NO<sub>3</sub>- in the soil that had built up over the drier winter and early spring when growth and potential soil losses are minimal (Ledgard & Steele, 1992). This NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> would be expected to be especially high in this system after 5 successive years of alfalfa cropping during which N content would be expected to increase in the soil (Peoples et al., 2009), although the sandy nature of this soil may negate N build up to some extent (Silver et al., 2000). As plants reduced soil NO<sub>3<sup>-</sup></sub> via uptake, BNF would no longer be inhibited (Peoples et al., 2009) and would be stimulated to provide additional N for the plant. Although NO<sub>3</sub> levels in our soil were relatively low, BNF has been shown to increase linearly with decreasing NO<sub>3</sub> (Voisin et al., 2002), indicating that even small decreases in NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> should lead to increases in fixation. N fixed by BNF can enter the soil as NH4<sup>+</sup> through rhizodeposition via (1) decomposition and decay of

root nodules and cells and (2) root exudation of soluble compounds (Joëlle et al., 2010). Furthermore, rhizodeposition is expected to increase as plants mature (Joëlle et al., 2010), which could explain the shift to  $NH_{4^+}$  dominance in the late growing season, as our plants reached the end of their sixth cropping cycle. These patterns are further supported by the lack of correlation between total SIN and  $\delta^{15}N$ , which indicates that extent of N fixation is not dependent on the total amount of mineral N in the system but rather specific species of inorganic N. The lack of significant correlations between nifH abundance and SIN measurements do not seem to support this idea, but nifH was only measured for H4 where the pattern between δ<sup>15</sup>N and percent of SIN as NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> was not as strong as for the whole growing season (Fig. 6), indicating that alfalfa may have been reducing N uptake and BNF as the growing season ended. Hooper & Vitousek (1998) found soil inorganic N pools in September that were twice as high compared to those in May in a leguminous plant community, supporting the idea that legumes reduce their uptake later in the growing season.

2. Correlations between plant δ<sup>15</sup>N values of alfalfa and percent of SIN as NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> could also be attributed to changes in N source over the growing season. The compost application rate was approximately two orders of magnitude higher than our biochar application rate and degradation of this N source could also lead to temporal patterns in plant δ<sup>15</sup>N. Generally 15-20% of compost N becomes plant available in the first year of application (Amlinger et al., 2003) and low C:N organic amendments, such as our compost, show peaks in soil available NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> within two months of application (Cooperband, Bollero, & Coale, 2001). Further, nitrification

can exhibit fractionations as high as -35‰ (Hogberg, 1997), such that the compost, which began with  $\delta^{15}N = 14.8 \pm 0.05$ , may exhibit a more depleted  $\delta^{15}N$  when transformed to NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and taken up by plants. This more depleted compost  $\delta^{15}N$  could represent the plant available N and lead to the more negative alfalfa  $\delta^{15}N$  values early in the growing season. Later in the season, as alfalfa depletes the compost available N, it may begin to perform N fixation and rhizodeposition, as presented above, or it may live off NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> that has built up over several years of alfalfa cropping, leading to NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> with a similar  $\delta^{15}N$  as fixed N. Although, this second explanation is harder to support given the expected transformation from NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> to NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> in this well-aerated, sandy soil (Barnard et al., 2005).

3. Change in acquisition depth of N may also explain this strong correlation between SIN availability and plant δ<sup>15</sup>N. Alfalfa has been shown to increase its N uptake from the subsoil over the growing season (Huang et al., 1996), so in our system, alfalfa may have shifted from nitrified compost readily available at the surface, with a more negative δ<sup>15</sup>N, to previously fixed N leached downward in the soil profile, with a more positive δ<sup>15</sup>N. However, we would not expect NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> to be leached to the subsoil due to its low mobility, so this scenario has somewhat less support, based on the strong correlation between plant δ<sup>15</sup>N and SIN as NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>. Understanding the N dynamics that lead to enhanced N fixation over the growing season may allow land managers to better target fertilizer applications to encourage BNF.

3.2 Alfalfa-dandelion interactions

If scenario one is taken as true, the convergence of dandelion δ<sup>15</sup>N values on alfalfa δ<sup>15</sup>N values over the growing season may indicate uptake of biologically fixed N by dandelions. While this prevented us from using dandelions as a reference plant for calculating BNF, it may have important implications for N transfer to plants growing in concert with legumes. A review of legume N transfer found that 7-57% of tissue N of a non-legume growing in association with a legume could be derived from legume rhizodeposition (Joëlle et al., 2010). Additionally, increased N transfer over the growing season and after successive years of cropping has been reported in multiple studies evaluating alfalfa (Burity et al., 1989; Tomm, 1994; Frankow-Lindberg & Dahlin, 2013; Louarn et al., 2015), and because our alfalfa was in its sixth year of growth, it may have transferred particularly high amounts of N to perennial dandelions towards the end of the growing season. Alternatively, changes in  $\delta^{15}N$  of plants may be attributed to changes in soil N source that are differentially preferentially taken up by dandelions and alfalfa (scenario 2) or differences in access to N due to differences in root structures and distribution in the soil profile (Shearer & Kohl, 1986; scenario 3), rather than solely differences in N fixation. Alfalfa has been shown to be an effective competitor for recycled N (Tomm et al., 1995), such that alfalfa may rely more on soil N built up from previous growing seasons, whereas dandelions may take up more of the readily accessible compost N, which may have a more negative c signature due to nitrification. Further, since alfalfa may have access to deeper soil N than dandelions, it may be taking up more fixed N that has leached downward in the soil profile over successive growing seasons (relatively enriched  $\delta^{15}N$ ; Thorup-Kristensen, 2001), which would be expected in this sandy soil, whereas more shallowly rooted dandelions may use

compost N which is closer to the surface (relatively depleted  $\delta^{15}$ N). Additionally, while we assume N is transferred from the legume to the non-fixing plant, the opposite has also been shown to occur (Tomm, 1994), although this is unlikely to be an important mechanism for changes in alfalfa  $\delta^{15}$ N in our system, as dandelions made up a very small proportion of biomass in the study field. Similar δ<sup>15</sup>N values of alfalfa and dandelions at the end of the growing season indicate either that dandelions are deriving their N solely from fixed N, which is unlikely (Walley et al., 1996), or more likely, that alfalfa and dandelions are both deriving N from a mixture of soil available N and biologically fixed N. This may have implications for weed persistence in agricultural fields of N-fixing plants. Reduced alfalfa growth later in the season in this study could be attributed to (1) enhanced dandelion uptake of N (Vitousek et al., 2002), although this would be minimal in our alfalfa-dominated field, (2) resource allocation to N fixation (Gutschick, 1987), or (3) a combination of these. Alternatively, weed growth in concert with alfalfa growth could have environmental benefits, as deep-rooted perennials, such as dandelions, have promise as N catch crops, which could reduce N loss through leaching (Thorup-Kristensen & Rasmussen, 2015).

## 3.3 Microbial linkages to substrate availability

Substrate availability was important predictor for genes representative of N loss but not for nifH, N-associated enzyme activity, nor microbial abundance. Total SIN, rather than a specific SIN species, was a better predictor for nirK and nosZ gene abundance. This is contrast to the findings of Ducey et al. (2013) who found stronger correlations between NO<sub>3</sub>-N and nirK and nosZ than between soil %N and nirK and nosZ, although correlations with both N pools were significant. They attributed significant correlations of

soil %N and N genes to increased water holding capacity with biochar addition, which would allow for greater N transport. This was unlikely to occur in our study due to low application rates reducing physical retention of water (Basso et al., 2013). In contrast, our results likely indicate the requirement of N, regardless of form, for microbial metabolism (Clark et al., 2012; Kaiser et al., 1992). However, this is in opposition to our findings for enzyme activity, microbial abundance, and nifH, none of which were correlated with any measure of SIN. The lack of correlation was especially surprising for nifH given significant associations between  $\delta^{15}N$  and the other N genes, but this could be due to the time of measurement (see section 3.1). Alternatively, the abundance of nifH has been found to be primarily positively associated with microbial biomass carbon across a large number of environmentally variable sites (Hayden et al., 2010), and our low organic matter soil is expected to have relatively low MBC, perhaps explaining the low nifH abundance relative to other genes measured. Lack of correlation between measurements of SIN availability and LAP and NAG are also surprising, considering activity of these enzymes should be associated with greater production of SIN (Sinsabaugh et al., 1993), although enzymatic activities can be interpreted in multiple ways. Further, a global scale analysis found that NAG and LAP correlated the most strongly with soil pH (Sinsabaugh et al., 2008) whereas SIN was not correlated with pH across ecosystems (Booth et al., 2005), indicating that these pools may be largely controlled by different environmental variables. The considerably higher abundances of fungal and bacterial DNA as compared to the abundances of N genes indicate that there was a large amount of functional diversity in our soils relative to diversity of N cycling microbes, likely leading to non-significant correlations between microbial
abundance and SIN measurements. Taken all together, findings related to N dynamics imply that eliminating fertilizer addition may stimulate N fixation, while initially reducing total SIN, which, via reduced abundance of denitrifying microbes, may reduce N losses as N<sub>2</sub>O or N<sub>2</sub>.

## 3.4 Lack of biochar effects

We see no biochar effects on N cycling, plant growth, and microbial measurements and also no differences between the two types of biochar applied. This was contrary to our expectations, as we expected CBC to be associated with greater reductions in SIN due to its higher C:N, leading to greater immobilization (Borchard et al., 2019) and higher surface area, allowing for greater sorption (Zheng et al., 2010). However, it is possible that biochar differences were masked by general lack of effects with biochar addition, which were likely due to our very low application rate, that was an order of magnitude lower than most biochar studies (112 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> vs. rates in tons ha<sup>-1</sup>), and relatively shallow incorporation depth as compared to rooting depth. The literature supports weaker effects at low application rates – reductions in N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> leaching are minimized to non-significance at low application rates (Borchard et al., 2019; Cayuela et al., 2014), likely due to reduced chemico-physical effects of biochar. Additionally, lack of effects of biochar on soil biology were also supported by our data as there were no biochar effects on bacterial and fungal abundance, as well as on enzymatic activity, thus negating SIN reduction mechanisms of immobilization and physical sorption of N mineralizing enzymes, respectively. However, some metaanalyses report increased yields or soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations with low rates of biochar addition, but these are grouped as <10 tons/ha or Mg/ha (Borchard et al., 2019; Liu et

al., 2013), which could include application rates much higher than what was investigated in this study. In contrast, several biochar studies have found lack of changes in SIN concentration, N<sub>2</sub>O, and MBN (Foster et al., 2016; Ramlow et al., 2019; Verhoeven & Six, 2014), even with higher application rates (15-30 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>), indicating that biochar may not affect these pools in certain systems, regardless of application rate. Increased N input from legumes could negate increased abiotic and biotic immobilization of SIN with biochar addition, potentially explaining our non-significant effects (Verhoeven & Six 2014). Although, the lack of biochar effect is especially surprising given many reports of stronger increases in water-holding capacity and reductions of SIN with biochar application in sandy soils, like ours, as compared to more clay soils (Atkinson et al., 2010; Nguyen et al., 2017; Spokas et al., 2012). However, a recent meta-analysis assessing crop yields has contested this (Crane-Droesch et al., 2013) and reported the strongest yield increases with biochar amendment to weathered and degraded soils. Because the soil in this study is used for agricultural production, it has received organic amendments that may have increased soil quality, such that we do not see beneficial biochar effects we would expect with more degraded soils.

Our low application rate could also explain the non-effect of biochar on our proxy for N fixation ( $\delta^{15}N$ ) – Mia et al. (2014) found increased biomass, percent N derived from the atmosphere, and N fixed per pot at 10 tons ha<sup>-1</sup> but not at 1 ton ha<sup>-1</sup>, which is still an order of magnitude higher than the rate used in our study. Since biochar application did not lead to reduced SIN, which was our expected mechanism for increased N fixation, it is not surprising to see non-significant effects of biochar on  $\delta^{15}N$ . Non-significant differences in nifH gene abundance between the biochar types may have also been due

to low biochar application rate or, alternatively, due to when genes were measured. Other studies have found increased nifH gene abundance with biochar addition (Ducey et al., 2013; Harter et al., 2014), but this effect diminished after 22 days (Harter et al., 2014), and a longer term study found no significant differences between biocharamended and control soils after 6 and 12 months (Bai et al., 2015). Since gene abundance was measured on soils collected ~5 months after biochar application, any positive effects of biochar on nifH abundance may have already been reduced to comparable levels with the control. Several studies attribute increased N fixation with biochar to increased availability of micronutrients (e.g. Mia et al., 2014; Oram et al., 2014; Rondon et al., 2007), which our low application rate also may not allow for. However, another study with a low application rate found significantly (p < 0.1) increased potassium early in the season (Foster et al., submitted), but even this relatively low application rate was eight times higher than ours (0.8 vs. 0.1 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>), potentially representing a threshold effect for benefits of low application rates of biochar. Additionally, the post-processing procedure used on our biochar has been shown to reduce the amount of biochar potassium, boron, and phosphorus, further reducing any benefits of nutrient addition with biochar amendment (data not shown). Our findings support the idea that low application rates of biochar are likely not sufficient to induce increased N fixation.

## 4. Conclusions

While previous studies have found that biochar is a promising tool for increasing N fixation, our field study found no effects of low application rates of biochar to a sandy soil on N cycling. However, we did find seasonal patterns in N cycling that may have

indicated a shift from plant dependence on soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> to biologically fixed N towards the end of the growing season. Additionally, total SIN, rather than a specific inorganic N species, was a better predictor of nosZ and nirK gene abundance. Taken together, these results could have management implications for soil N availability – reducing SIN may both increase N fixation and decrease gaseous N losses, especially through reduced NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> availability. Further study on application rates of biochar that are agronomically, environmentally, and economically effective are needed for biochar to be widely applicable in agriculture.

## **CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSION**

Biochar undoubtedly offers promise for sustainable agriculture. While it is logical to be excited about the prospect of a soil amendment that can do it all – sequester carbon, boost yields, and increase N retention – we cannot allow this excitement to cloud our judgement as scientists. A large number of studies have provided evidence that amending soil with biochar leads to reduced N loss through leaching and N<sub>2</sub>O emission, and further, that biochar can increase N input via increased biological N fixation. However, our findings in large part do not support these previous reports.

The second chapter of this thesis explored the fate of fertilizer N in response to both traditional and post-processed biochars, in the presence and absence of plants, in a greenhouse study. Addition of traditional biochar had no effects on N cycling relative to the control in our temperate alkaline soil. These findings agree with others that find minimal biochar effects in temperate regions, where the majority of the world's agriculture is found. In contrast, addition of engineered biochar was associated with increased losses of N, suggesting negative effects of biochar addition. These findings, while potentially associated with specific methods used in our study, provide contrary evidence to previous findings of reduced N loss with biochar amendment. The third chapter of this thesis focused on the effects of low rates of biochar addition on seasonal N cycling in an alfalfa field with a sandy soil. Findings indicated that low application rates of biochar are ineffective for increasing N retention or fixation, even in a sandy soil, where benefits of biochar addition are expected to be highest. These findings

indicate a need to find thresholds of application rates where biochar can have beneficial effects that outweigh the cost of applying that biochar.

My findings suggest that biochar amendments have minimal agronomic benefits, but this is not true of all situations. Positive effects of biochar on N cycling and yield in temperate systems have been shown, albeit generally with high application rates. Farmer incentive is needed for biochar to be effective in temperate agroecosystems. Thus, further study is needed to determine which application rates are economically feasible for farmers, especially given that there is not currently a carbon market in the US that credits for biochar application. These rates will need to be evaluated to determine if they can provide beneficial impacts on plant growth and N retention that can increase profit and/or decrease fertilizer cost for growers.

Studies in this thesis find that plant processes, in contrast to biochar additions, are crucial for increasing N retention and availability. The second chapter of this thesis demonstrated the importance of plant presence for reducing N loss. While this is not entirely surprising, it has implications for agricultural management and suggests the need for careful interpretation of laboratory experiments. While highly controlled laboratory studies may be valuable for elucidating mechanisms, they may overestimate the strength of biochar-induced reductions in loss. There is a need for more studies evaluating biochar effects with and without plants to determine how applicable lab experiments without plants are to agricultural field settings. Findings presented in the third chapter of this thesis suggest leguminous plants leave large amounts of N in the soil following successive years of cropping that can support new growth at the

biological N fixation is likely stimulated, allowing for continued growth of the legume and nearby weeds. Understanding plant dynamics over the growing season may allow for more targeted fertilizer application that would reduce N loss and increase biological N fixation by legumes.

Identifying methods to increase N retention in agroecosystems is a crucial hurdle to overcome in reaching a sustainable agricultural system. The growing demand for food coupled with the increased need to reduce human pressure on the environment requires agricultural solutions that can reduce N loss while maintaining crop yields. While biochar did not benefit N retention nor increased crop growth in the systems evaluated in this thesis, plant processes were important for both reducing N losses and increasing N inputs, further confirming the important role of plants in nutrient cycling in terrestrial ecosystems.

## REFERENCES

- Amonette, J.E., Joseph, S., 2009. Characteristics of biochar: microchemical properties.
  In: Lehmann, J., Joseph, S. (Eds.), Biochar for Environmental Management:
  Science and Technology, 1 ed. Earthscan: London, UK, pp. 33–52.
- ASTM D3176-15, Standard practice for ultimate analysis of coal and coke, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2015, <u>www.astm.org</u>
- Agegnehu, G., Nelson, P. N., & Bird, M. I. (2016). The effects of biochar, compost and their mixture and nitrogen fertilizer on yield and nitrogen use efficiency of barley grown on a Nitisol in the highlands of Ethiopia. *Science of the Total Environment*, *569–570*, 869–879. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.033
- Amlinger, F., Götz, B., Dreher, P., Geszti, J., & Weissteiner, C. (2003). Nitrogen in biowaste and yard waste compost: dynamics of mobilisation and availability — a review. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, 39, 107–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1164-5563(03)00026-8
- Andersen, K. M., Mayor, J. R., & Turner, B. L. (2017). Plasticity in nitrogen uptake among plant species with contrasting nutrient acquisition strategies in a tropical forest. *Ecology*, *98*(5), 1388–1398. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.1793
- Atkinson, C. J., Fitzgerald, J. D., & Hipps, N. A. (2010). Potential mechanisms for achieving agricultural benefits from biochar application to temperate soils: A review. *Plant and Soil*, *337*(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-010-0464-5
- Awad, Y. M., Blagodatskaya, E., Ok, Y. S., & Kuzyakov, Y. (2012). Effects of polyacrylamide, biopolymer, and biochar on decomposition of soil organic matter and plant residues as determined by <sup>14</sup>C and enzyme activities. *European Journal* of Soil Biology, 48, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2011.09.005
- Bai, S. H., Reverchon, F., Xu, C. Y., Xu, Z., Blumfield, T. J., Zhao, H., Van Zweiten, L., & Wallace, H. M. (2015). Wood biochar increases nitrogen retention in field settings mainly through abiotic processes. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *90*, 232–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.08.007
- Bailey, V. L., Fansler, S. J., Smith, J. L., & Bolton, H. (2011). Reconciling apparent variability in effects of biochar amendment on soil enzyme activities by assay optimization. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 43(2), 296–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.10.014
- Barnard, R., Leadley, P. W., & Hungate, B. A. (2005). Global change, nitrification, and denitrification: A review. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, *19*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1029/2004GB002282
- Basso, A. S., Miguez, F. E., Laird, D. A., Horton, R., & Westgate, M. (2013). Assessing potential of biochar for increasing water-holding capacity of sandy soils. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy*, *5*, 132–143. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12026
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects mo dels using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software, 67*(1), 1-48. doi:10.18637/jss.v067.i 01.
- Bell, C. W., Fricks, B. E., Rocca, J. D., Steinweg, J. M., Mcmahon, S. K., & Wallenstein, M. D. (2013). High-throughput fluorometric measurement of potential soil extracellular enzyme activities. *J. Vis. Exp.*, *81*, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3791/50961
- Biederman, L. A., & Harpole, W. S. (2013). Biochar and its effects on plant productivity

and nutrient cycling: A meta-analysis. *GCB Bioenergy*, *5*(2), 202–214. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12037

- Billen, G., Garnier, J., & Lassaletta, L. (2013). The nitrogen cascade from agricultural soils to the sea: modelling nitrogen transfers at regional watershed and global scales. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *368*, 1–13.
- Booth, M. S., Stark, J. M., & Rastetter, E. (2005). Controls on nitrogen cycling in terrestrial ecosystems: a synthetic analysis of literature data. *Ecological Modelling*, *75*(2), 139–157.
- Borchard, N., Schirrmann, M., Luz, M., Kammann, C., Wrage-mönnig, N., Estavillo, J. M., Fuertes-Mendizabal, T., Sigua, G., Spokas, K., Ippolito, J. A., & Novak, J. (2019). Biochar, soil and land-use interactions that reduce nitrate leaching and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions: a meta-analysis. *Science of the Total Environment*, *651*, 2354–2364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.060
- Box, G.E.P. & Cox, D. R. (1964). An analysis of transforamtions. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, 26*(2), 211-243.
- Bruun, E. W., Ambus, P., Egsgaard, H., & Hauggaard-Nielsen, H. (2012). Effects of slow and fast pyrolysis biochar on soil C and N turnover dynamics. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 46, 73–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.11.019
- Bruun, E. W., Muller-Stover, D., Ambus, P., & Hauggaard-Nielsen, H. (2011). Application of biochar to soil and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions: potential effects of blending fastpyrolysis biochar with anaerobically digested slurry. *European Journal of Soil Science*, *62*(3), 581–589. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2389.2011.01377.x
- Burity, H. A., Ta, T. C., Faris, M. A., & Coulman, B. E. (1989). Estimation of nitrogen fixation and transfer from alfalfa to associated grasses in mixed swards under field conditions. *Plant and Soil*, *114*, 249–255.
- Butterbach-bahl, K., Baggs, E. M., Dannenmann, M., & Kiese, R. (2013). Nitrous oxide emissions from soils: how well do we understand the processes and their controls? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *368*.
- Carter, S., Shackley, S., Sohi, S., Suy, T., & Haefele, S. (2013). The impact of biochar application on soil properties and plant growth of pot grown lettuce (*Lactuca sativa*) and cabbage (*Brassica chinensis*). *Agronomy*, *3*(2), 404–418. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy3020404
- Case, S. D. C., McNamara, N. P., Reay, D. S., & Whitaker, J. (2012). The effect of biochar addition on N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from a sandy loam soil - the role of soil aeration. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *51*, 125–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.03.017
- Cayuela, M. L., Jeffery, S., & van Zwieten, L. (2015). The molar H:Corg ratio of biochar is a key factor in mitigating N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from soil. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 202*, 135–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2014.12.015
- Cayuela, M. L., Sanchez-Monedero, M. A., Roig, A., Hanley, K., Enders, A., & Lehmann, J. (2013). Biochar and denitrification in soils: when, how much and why does biochar reduce N<sub>2</sub>O emissions? *Scientific Reports*, *3*(1732), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep01732
- Cayuela, M. L., van Zwieten, L., Singh, B. P., Jeffery, S., Roig, A., & Sánchez-Monedero, M. A. (2014). Biochar's role in mitigating soil nitrous oxide emissions: A

review and meta-analysis. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 191*, 5–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.10.009

- Chalk, P. M. (1998). Dynamics of biologically fixed N in legume-cereal rotations: a review. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, *49*, 303–16.
- Clark, I. M., Buchkina, N., Jhurreea, D., Goulding, K. W. T., & Hirsch, P. R. (2012). Impacts of nitrogen application rates on the activity and diversity of denitrifying bacteria in the Broadbalk Wheat Experiment. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *367*, 1235–1244. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0314
- Clough, T., Condron, L., Kammann, C., & Müller, C. (2013). A review of biochar and soil nitrogen dynamics. *Agronomy*, *3*(2), 275–293. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy3020275
- Clough, T. J., & Condron, L. M. (2010). Biochar and the nitrogen cycle: introduction. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *39*(4), 1218–1223. https://doi.org/10.2134/Jeq2010.0204
- Cooperband, L., Bollero, G., & Coale, F. (2001). Effect of poultry litter and composts on soil nitrogen and phosphorus availability and corn production. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, *62*, 185–194.
- Corey, K. A., Bates, M. E., & Adams, S. L. (1996). Carbon dioxide exchange of lettuce plants under hypobaric conditions. *Advances in Space Research*, *18*(4/5), 265–272.
- Cotrufo, M. F., Wallenstein, M. D., Boot, C. M., Denef, K., & Paul, E. (2013). The Microbial Efficiency-Matrix Stabilization (MEMS) framework integrates plant litter decomposition with soil organic matter stabilization: do labile plant inputs form stable soil organic matter? *Global Change Biology*, *19*, 988–995. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12113
- Crane-Droesch, A., Abiven, S., Jeffery, S., & Torn, M. S. (2013). Heterogeneous global crop yield response to biochar: a meta-regression analysis. *Environmental Research Letters*, *8*. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/8/4/044049
- Deenik, J. L., Antal, M. J., & Campbell, S. (2010). Charcoal volatile matter content infl uences plant growth and soil nitrogen transformations. *Soil Science Society of America Journal, 74*(4), 1259–1270. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj2009.0115
- Dempster, D. N., Jones, D. L., & Murphy, D. V. (2012). Clay and biochar amendments decreased inorganic but not dissolved organic nitrogen leaching in soil. *Soil Research*, *50*(3), 216–221. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR11316
- Dharmakeerthi, R. S., Arachchige, J., Chandrasiri, S., & Edirimanne, V. U. (2012). Effect of rubber wood biochar on nutrition and growth of nursery plants of Hevea brasiliensis established in an Ultisol. *SpringerPlus*, *1*(84), 1–12.
- Dickerson, G. W. (1996). Greenhouse vegetable production. *New Mexico State University Cooperative Extension Service*, (Circular 556).
- Ding, Y., Liu, Y. X., Wu, W. X., Shi, D. Z., Yang, M., & Zhong, Z. K. (2010). Evaluation of biochar effects on nitrogen retention and leaching in multi-layered soil columns. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 213(1–4), 47–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-010-0366-4
- Ducey, T. F., Ippolito, J. A., Cantrell, K. B., Novak, J. M., & Lentz, R. D. (2013). Addition of activated switchgrass biochar to an aridic subsoil increases microbial nitrogen

cycling gene abundances. *Applied Soil Ecology*, *65*, 65–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2013.01.006

- Ells, J. E., Schwartz, H. F., & Cranshaw, W. S. (1990). Commercial vegetable production recommendations. Colorado State Publications Library.
- Fidel, R. B., Laird, D. A., & Spokas, K. A. (2018). Sorption of ammonium and nitrate to biochars is electrostatic and pH-dependent. *Scientific Reports*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-35534-w
- Fierer, N., Jackson, J.A., Vilgalys, R., Jackson, R.B. (2005). The assessment of soil microbial community structure by use of taxon-specific quantitative PCR assays. *Appl Environ Microbiol, 71*, 4117-4120.

Foster, E. J., Fogle, E. J., & Cotrufo, M. F. (2018). Sorption to biochar impacts β - glucosidase and phosphatase enzyme activities. *Agricuture*, *8*(158), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture8100158

- Foster, E. J., Hansen, N., Wallenstein, M., & Cotrufo, M. F. (2016). Biochar and manure amendments impact soil nutrients and microbial enzymatic activities in a semi-arid irrigated maize cropping system. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 233*, 404–414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.09.029
- Foster, E. J., Baas, P., Wallenstein, M. D., & Cotrufo, M. F. Precision biochar and inocul um applications shift bacterial community structure and increase specific nutrient a vailability and maize yield. Submitted to *Applied Soil Ecology*.
- Fowler, D., Coyle, M., Skiba, U., Sutton, M. A., Cape, J. N., Reis, S., Sheppard, L.J., Jenkins, A., Grizzetti, B., Galloway, J.N., Vitousek, P., Leach, A., Bouwman, A. F., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Dentener, F., Stevenson, D., Amann, M., & Voss, M. (2013). The global nitrogen cycle in the twenty-first century. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *368*, 1–13.
- Fox, J. & Weisberg, S. (2011). An {R} companion to applied regression, second edition. Thousand Oaks CA: Sage. URL: http://socserv.socsci.mcmaster.ca/jfox/Books/Companion

Frankow-Lindberg, B. E., & Dahlin, A. S. (2013). N<sub>2</sub> fixation, N transfer, and yield in grassland communities including a deep-rooted legume or non-legume species. *Plant and Soil*, *370*, 567–581. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-013-1650-z

- Galinato, S. P., Yoder, J. K., & Granatstein, D. (2011). The economic value of biochar in crop production and carbon sequestration. *Energy Policy*, *39*(10), 6344–6350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2011.07.035
- Galloway, J. N., Aber, J. D., Erisman, J. W., Seitzinger, S. P., Howarth, R. W., Cowling, E. B., & Cosby, B. J. (2003). The nitrogen cascade. *BioScience*, *53*(4), 341. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2003)053[0341:TNC]2.0.CO;2

Gomez, J. D., Denef, K., Stewart, C. E., Zheng, J., & Cotrufo, M. F. (2014). Biochar addition rate influences soil microbial abundance and activity in temperate soils. *European Journal of Soil Science*, *65*(1), 28–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejss.12097

- Güereña, D., Lehmann, J., Hanley, K., Enders, A., Hyland, C., & Riha, S. (2013). Nitrogen dynamics following field application of biochar in a temperate North American maize-based production system. *Plant and Soil*, *365*(1–2), 239–254. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-012-1383-4
- Güereña, D. T., Lehmann, J., Thies, J. E., Enders, A., Karanja, N., & Neufeldt, H. (2015). Partitioning the contributions of biochar properties to enhanced biological

nitrogen fixation in common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*). *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *51*, 479–491. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-014-0990-z

- Gul, S., & Whalen, J. K. (2016). Biochemical cycling of nitrogen and phosphorus in biochar-amended soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *103*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.08.001
- Gul, S., Whalen, J. K., Thomas, B. W., & Sachdeva, V. (2015). Physico-chemical properties and microbial responses in biochar-amended soils: mechanisms and future directions. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 206*, 46–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.03.015
- Gurwick, N. P., Moore, L. A., Kelly, C., & Elias, P. (2013). A systematic review of biochar research, with a focus on its stability in situ and its promise as a climate mitigation strategy. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0075932
- Gutschick, V. P. (1987) *A functional biology of crop plants.* Portland, OR, USA: Timber Press.
- Haider, G., Steffens, D., Moser, G., Müller, C., & Kammann, C. I. (2017). Biochar reduced nitrate leaching and improved soil moisture content without yield improvements in a four-year field study. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 237, 80–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.12.019
- Hallin, S., Jones, C. M., Schloter, M., & Philippot, L. (2009). Relationship between Ncycling communities and ecosystem functioning in a 50-year-old fertilization experiment. *The ISME Journal*, *3*(5), 597–605. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2008.128
- Halvorson, A. D., & Stewart, C. E. (2015). Stover removal affects no-till irrigated corn yields, soil carbon, and nitrogen. *Agronomy Journal*, *107*(4), 1504–1512. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj15.0074
- Harter, J., Krause, H.-M., Schuettler, S., Ruser, R., Fromme, M., Scholten, T., Kappler, A., & Behrens, S. (2014). Linking N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from biochar-amended soil to the structure and function of the N-cycling microbial community. *The ISME Journal*, *8*(3), 660–674. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.160
- Hauck, R. D., & Bremner, J. M. (1976). Use of tracers for soil and fertilizer nitrogen research. *Advances in Agronomy*, *28*(C), 219–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(08)60556-8
- Hayden, H. L., Drake, J., Imhof, M., Oxley, A. P. A., Norng, S., & Mele, P. M. (2010). The abundance of nitrogen cycle genes amoA and nifH depends on land-uses and soil types in South-Eastern Australia. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *42*(10), 1774– 1783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.06.015
- Hogberg, P. (1997). Tansley Review No . 95. <sup>15</sup>N natural abundance in soil-plant systems. *New Phytologist*, *137*(95), 179–203. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.1997.00808.x
- Hooper, D. U., & Vitousek, P. M. (1998). Effects of plant composition and diversity on nutrient cycling. *Ecological Monographs*, *68*(1), 121–149.
- Huang, Y., Rickerl, D. H., & Kephart, K. D. (1996). Recovery of deep-point injected soil nitrogen-15 by switchgrass, alfalfa, ineffective alfalfa, and corn. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *25*, 1394–1400.
- Hutchinson, G. L., & Mosier, A. R. (1981). Improved soil cover method for field measurement of nitrous oxide fluxes. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*,

45(2), 311. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj1981.03615995004500020017x

- Jeffery, S., Abalos, D., Prodana, M., Bastos, A. C., Groenigen, J. W. Van, Hungate, B. A., & Verheijen, F. (2017). Biochar boosts tropical but not temperate crop yields. *Environmental Research Letters, 12*, 1-6.
- Jiang, X., Haddix, M. L., & Cotrufo, M. F. (2016). Interactions between biochar and soil organic carbon decomposition: effects of nitrogen and low molecular weight carbon compound addition. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *100*, 92–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.05.020
- Joëlle, F., Fabien, L., Stéphanie, M., & Jean-Bernard, C. (2010). Nitrogen rhizodeposition of legumes. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 30*, 57–58.
- Kaiser, E.-A., Mueller, T., Joergensen, R. G., Insam, H., & Heinemeyer, O. (1992). Evaluation of methods to estimate the soil microbial biomass and the relationship with soil texture and organic matter. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, *24*(7), 675–683.
- Kammann, C. I., Schmidt, H. P., Messerschmidt, N., Linsel, S., Steffens, D., Müller, C., Koyro, H-W, Conte, P., & Stephen, J. (2015). Plant growth improvement mediated by nitrate capture in co-composted biochar. *Scientific Reports*, *5*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep11080
- Kaye, J., Barrett, J., & Burke, I. (2002). Stable nitrogen and carbon pools in grassland soils of variable texture and carbon content. *Ecosystems*, *5*, 461–471. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-002-142-4
- Kibblewhite, M. G., Ritz, K., & Swift, M. J. (2008). Soil health in agricultural systems. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *363*, 685–701. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2178
- King, A. E., & Hofmockel, K. S. (2017). Diversified cropping systems support greater microbial cycling and retention of carbon and nitrogen. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 240*, 66–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2017.01.040
- Laird, D., Fleming, P., Wang, B., Horton, R., & Karlen, D. (2010). Biochar impact on nutrient leaching from a midwestern agricultural soil. *Geoderma*, *158*(3–4), 436–442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2010.05.012
- Leach, A. M., Galloway, J. N., Bleeker, A., Willem, J., Kohn, R., & Kitzes, J. (2012). A nitrogen footprint model to help consumers understand their role in nitrogen losses to the environment. *Environmental Development*, *1*(1), 40–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envdev.2011.12.005
- Ledgard, S. F., & Steele, K. W. (1992). Biological nitrogen fixation in mixed legume/ grass pastures. *Plant and Soil, 141*, 137–153.
- Lehmann, J. and Joseph, S., Eds. (2015) Biochar for environmental management science, technology and implementation. Routledge, New York, USA.
- Lenth, R. (2018). emmeans: estimated marginal means, aka least-squares means. R pa ckage version 1.1. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=emmeans</u>
- Liu, L., Wang, Y., Yan, X., Li, J., Jiao, N., & Hu, S. (2017). Biochar amendments increase the yield advantage of legume-based intercropping systems over monoculture. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 237*, 16–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.12.026
- Liu, X., Zhang, A., Ji, C., Joseph, S., Bian, R., Li, L., Pan, G., & Paz-ferreiro, J. (2013). Biochar's effect on crop productivity and the dependence on experimental

conditions — a meta-analysis of literature data. *Plant and Soil*, 583–594. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-013-1806-x

- Longyear, B. O. (1918) *The Dandelion in Colorado.* The Agricultural Experiment Station, Fort Collins, Colorado, USA.
- Louarn, G., Pereira-lopès, E., Fustec, J., & Mary, B. (2015). The amounts and dynamics of nitrogen transfer to grasses differ in alfalfa and white clover-based grass-legume mixtures as a result of rooting strategies and rhizodeposit quality. *Plant and Soil*, *389*, 289–305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-014-2354-8
- Malik, K. A., Bilal, R., Rasul, G., Mahmood, K., & Sajjad, M. I. (1991). Associative Nfixation in plants growing in saline sodic soils and its relative quantification based on <sup>15</sup>N natural abundance. *Plant and Soil*, *137*, 67–74.
- Mayer, Z. A., Eltom, Y., Stennett, D., Schr, E., & Apfelbacher, A. (2014). Characterization of engineered biochar for soil management. *Environmental Progress & Sustainable Energy*, *33*(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/ep
- McTaggart, I. P., & Smith, K. A. (1993). Estimation of potentially mineralisable nitrogen in soil by KCI extraction. *Plant and Soil*, *157*(1981), 175–184.
- Mia, S., Dijkstra, F. A., & Singh, B. (2018). Enhanced biological nitrogen fixation and competitive advantage of legumes in mixed pastures diminish with biochar aging. *Plant and Soil*, *424*, 639–651.
- Mia, S., van Groenigen, J. W., van de Voorde, T. F. J., Oram, N. J., Bezemer, T. M., Mommer, L., & Jeffery, S. (2014). Biochar application rate affects biological nitrogen fixation in red clover conditional on potassium availability. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 191, 83–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2014.03.011
- Mørkved, P. T., Dörsch, P., & Bakken, L. R. (2007). The N<sub>2</sub>O product ratio of nitrification and its dependence on long-term changes in soil pH. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *39*(8), 2048–2057. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.03.006
- Mukherjee, A., Zimmerman, A. R., & Harris, W. (2011). Surface chemistry variations among a series of laboratory-produced biochars. *Geoderma*, *163*(3–4), 247–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2011.04.021
- Nasholm, T., Huss-Danell, K., & Hogberg, P. (2000). Uptake of organic nitrgoen in the field by four agriculturally important plant species. *Ecology*, *81*(April), 1155–1161.
- Nelissen, V., Rütting, T., Huygens, D., Staelens, J., Ruysschaert, G., & Boeckx, P. (2012). Maize biochars accelerate short-term soil nitrogen dynamics in a loamy sand soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 55, 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.05.019
- Nelissen, V., Ruysschaert, G., Muller-Stover, D., Bodé, S., Cook, J., Ronsse, F., Shackley, S., Boeckx, P., & Hauggaard-Nielsen, H. (2014). Short-term effect of feedstock and pyrolysis temperature on biochar characteristics, soil and crop response in temperate soils. *Agronomy*, 4(3), 52–73. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy4010052
- Nelissen, V., Saha, B. K., Ruysschaert, G., & Boeckx, P. (2014). Effect of different biochar and fertilizer types on N<sub>2</sub>O and NO emissions. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *70*, 244–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.12.026
- Nguyen, T. T. N., Xu, C. Y., Tahmasbian, I., Che, R., Xu, Z., Zhou, X., Wallace, H. M., & Bai, S. H. (2017). Effects of biochar on soil available inorganic nitrogen: a review

and meta-analysis. Geoderma, 288, 79–96.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2016.11.004

- Oram, N. J., Van de Voorde, T. F. J., Ouwehand, G. J., Bezemer, T. M., Mommer, L., Jeffery, S., & Groenigen, J. W. Van. (2014). Soil amendment with biochar increases the competitive ability of legumes via increased potassium availability. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, *191*, 92–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2014.03.031
- Parkin, T. B., & Venterea, R. T. (2010). Chapter 3. Chamber-based trace gas flux measurements. USDA GraceNET Sampling Protocols., 1–39. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2009.0231
- Peoples, M. B., Herridge, D. F., Alves, B. R., Urquiaga, S., Boddey, R. M., Dakora, F. D., Bhattarai, S., Maskey, S. L., Sampet, C., Rerkasem, B., Khan, D. F., Hauggaard-Nielsen, H. & Jensen, E.S. (2009). The contributions of nitrogen-fixing crop legumes to the productivity of agricultural systems. *Symbiosis*, 48, 1–17.
- Pietikäinen, J., Kiikkilä, O., & Fritze, H. (2000). Charcoal as a habitat for microbes and its effect on the microbial community of the underlying humus. *Oikos*, *89*(2), 231–242. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2000.890203.x
- Prommer, J., Wanek, W., Hofhansl, F., Trojan, D., Offre, P., Urich, T., Schleper, C., Sassmann, S., Kitzler, B., Soja, G., & Hood-Nowotny, R. C. (2014). Biochar decelerates soil organic nitrogen cycling but stimulates soil nitrification in a temperate arable field trial. *PLOSone*, *9*(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0086388
- Quemada, M., Baranski, M., Nobel-de Lange, M. N. J., Vallejo, A., & Cooper, J. M. (2013). Meta-analysis of strategies to control nitrate leaching in irrigated agricultural systems and their effects on crop yield. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 174*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.04.018
- Quilliam, R. S., DeLuca, T. H., & Jones, D. L. (2013). Biochar application reduces nodulation but increases nitrogenase activity in clover. *Plant and Soil*, *366*(1–2), 83–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-012-1411-4
- R Core Team (2017) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available via: http://www.Rproject.org/.
- Rajapaksha, A. U., Chen, S. S., Tsang, D. C. W., Zhang, M., Vithanage, M., Mandal, S., Gao, B., Bolan, N. S., & Sik, Y. (2016). Engineered/designer biochar for contaminant removal/immobilization from soil and water: potential and implication of biochar modification. *Chemosphere*, *148*, 276–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.01.043
- Rajkovich, S., Enders, A., Hanley, K., Hyland, C., Zimmerman, A. R., & Lehmann, J. (2012). Corn growth and nitrogen nutrition after additions of biochars with varying properties to a temperate soil. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 48, 271–284. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-011-0624-7
- Ramlow, M., & Cotrufo, F. M. (2017). Woody biochar's greenhouse gas mitigation potential across fertilized and unfertilized agricultural soils and soil moisture regimes. *GCB Bioenergy*, *10*, 108–122. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12474
- Ramlow, M., Foster, E. J., Grosso, S. J. Del, & Cotrufo, M. F. (2019). Broadcast woody biochar provides limited benefits to deficit irrigation maize in Colorado. *Agriculture,*

Ecosystems and Environment, 269, 71–81.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2018.09.017

- Ravishankara, A. R., Daniel, J. S., & Portmann, R. W. (2009). Nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O): the dominant ozone-depleting substance emitted in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. *Science*, *326*(October), 123–125. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1176985
- Reganold, J. P., Papendick, R. I., & Parr, J. F. (1990). Sustainable agriculture. *Scientific American*, *262*(6), 112–121.
- Rochette, P., & Janzen, H. H. (2005). Towards a revised coefficient for estimating N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from legumes. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, *73*(2–3), 171–179. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10705-005-0357-9
- Rodriguez, Amy. (n.d.). Will cutting dandelion root off an inch below the surface of the ground kill it? *Home Guides | SF Gate*. Retrieved from <u>http://homeguides.sfgate.com/cutting-dandelion-root-off-inch-below-surface-ground-kill-it-81173.html</u>. Viewed 22 April 2019.
- Rondon, M. A., Lehmann, J., Ramírez, J., & Hurtado, M. (2007). Biological nitrogen fixation by common beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris L.*) increases with bio-char additions. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *43*(6), 699–708. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-006-0152-z
- Rubio, L. M., & Ludden, P. W. (2008). Biosynthesis of the cofactor of nitrogenase. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, *62*, 93–111. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.62.081307.162737
- Saarnio, S., Heimonen, K., & Kettunen, R. (2013). Biochar addition indirectly affects N<sub>2</sub>O emissions via soil moisture and plant N uptake. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *58*, 99–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.10.035
- Saito, M. (1990). Charcoal as a micro-habitat for mycorrhizal fungi, and its practical implication. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 29*(1–4), 341–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-8809(90)90298-R
- Schimmelpfennig, S., Müller, C., Grünhage, L., Koch, C., & Kammann, C. (2014).
  Biochar, hydrochar and uncarbonized feedstock application to permanent grassland — effects on greenhouse gas emissions and plant growth. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 191*, 39–52.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2014.03.027
- Schmidt, H., Kammann, C., Niggli, C., Evangelou, M. W. H., Mackie, K. A., & Abiven, S. (2014). Biochar and biochar-compost as soil amendments to a vineyard soil: influences on plant growth, nutrient uptake, plant health and grape quality. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, *191*, 117–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2014.04.001
- Sgouridis, F., & Ullah, S. (2015). Relative magnitude and controls of in situ N<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes due to denitrification in natural and seminatural terrestrial ecosystems using <sup>15</sup>N tracers. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *49*, 14110–14119. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b03513
- Shearer, G., & Kohl, D. H. (1986). N<sub>2</sub>-fixation in field settings: estimations based on natural <sup>15</sup>N abundance. *Australian Journal of Plant Physiology*, *13*, 699–756. https://doi.org/10.1071/PP9860699c
- Silver, W. L., Neff, J., Mcgroddy, M., Veldkamp, E., Keller, M., & Cosme, R. (2000). Effects of soil texture on belowground carbon and nutrient storage in a lowland amazonian forest ecosystem. *Ecosystems*, *3*, 193–209.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s100210000019

- Singh, B. P., Hatton, B. J., Singh, B., Cowie, A. L., & Kathuria, A. (2010). Influence of biochars on nitrous oxide emission and nitrogen leaching from two contrasting soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *39*(4), 1224–1235. https://doi.org/10.2134/Jeq2009.0138
- Sinsabaugh, R. L., Antibus, R. K., Linkins, A. E., Mcclaugherty, C. A., Rayburn, L., Repert, D., & Weiland, T. (1993). Wood decomposition: nitrogen and phosphorus dynamics in relation to extracellular enzyme activity. *Ecology*, 74(5), 1586–1593.
- Sinsabaugh, R. L., Lauber, C. L., Weintraub, M. N., Ahmed, B., Allison, S. D., Crenshaw, C., Contosta, A. R., Cusack, D., Frey, S., Gallo, M. E., Gartner, T. B., Hobbie, S. E., Holland, K., Keeler, B. L., Powers, J. S., Stursova, M., Takacs-Vesbach, C., Waldrop, M. P., Wallenstein, M. D., Zak, D. R., & Zeglin, L. H. (2008). Stoichiometry of soil enzyme activity at global scale. *Ecology Letters*, *11*, 1252– 1264. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01245.x
- Soil Science Division Staff. 1993. *Soil survey manual.* In C. Ditzler, K. Scheffe, and H.C. Monger (eds.). USDA Handbook 18. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- Spokas, K. A., Cantrell, K. B., Novak, J. M., Archer, D. W., Ippolito, J. A., Collins, H. P., Boateng, A. A., Lima, I. M., Lambb, M. C., McAloon, A. J., Lentz, R. D., & Nichols, K. A. (2012). Biochar: a synthesis of its agronomic impact beyond carbon sequestration, *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *41*, 973–989. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2011.0069
- Stagnari, F., Maggio, A., Galieni, A., & Pisante, M. (2017). Multiple benefits of legumes for agriculture sustainability: an overview. *Chemical and Biological Technologies in Agriculture*, *4*(2) 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40538-016-0085-1
- Subedi, R., Kammann, C. I., Pelissetti, S., Taupe, N., Bertora, C., Monaco, S., & Grignani, C. (2015). Does soil amended with biochar and hydrochar reduce ammonia emissions following the application of pig slurry? *European Journal of Soil Science*, *66*(November), 1044–1053. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejss.12302
- Sun, H., Lu, H., Chu, L., Shao, H., & Shi, W. (2017). Biochar applied with appropriate rates can reduce N leaching, keep N retention and not increase NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization in a coastal saline soil. *Science of the Total Environment, 575*, 820–825. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.09.137
- Sun, L., Li, L., Chen, Z., Wang, J., & Xiong, Z. (2014). Combined effects of nitrogen deposition and biochar application on emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O, CO<sub>2</sub> and NH<sub>3</sub> from agricultural and forest soils. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 60(2), 254–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/00380768.2014.885386
- Taghizadeh-Toosi, A., Clough, T. J., Condron, L. M., Sherlock, R. R., Anderson, C. R., & Craigie, R. A. (2011). Biochar incorporation into pasture soil suppresses in situ nitrous oxide emissions from ruminant urine patches. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 40(2), 468. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2010.0419
- Terakado-Tonooka, J., Ando, S., Ohwaki, Y., & Yoneyama, T. (2013). NifH gene expression and nitrogen fixation by diazotrophic endophytes in sugarcane and sweet potatoes. In de Bruijn, F.J. (ed.) Molecular microbial ecology of the rhizosphere, 1 & 2. John Wiley & Sons, Inc: Hoboken, N.J., pgs. 437 - 444
- Thorup-Kristensen, K. (2001). Are differences in root growth of nitrogen catch crops important for their ability to reduce soil nitrate-N content, and how can this be

measured? *Plant and Soil*, *230*, 185–195.

- Thorup-Kristensen, K., & Rasmussen, C. R. (2015). Identifying new deep-rooted plant species suitable as undersown nitrogen catch crops. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, *70*(6), 399–409. https://doi.org/10.2489/jswc.70.6.399
- Tomm G (1994) Nitrogen transfer in an alfalfa-bromegrass mixture. *University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Canada.*
- Tomm, G., Walley, F. L., Kessel, C. Van, & Slinkard, A. E. (1995). Nitrogen cycling in an alfalfa and bromegrass sward via litterfall and harvest losses. *Agronomy Journal*, *87*, 1078–1085.
- Tonitto, C., David, M. B., & Drinkwater, L. E. (2006). Replacing bare fallows with cover crops in fertilizer-intensive cropping systems: a meta-analysis of crop yield and N dynamics. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, *112*(3), 58–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2005.07.003
- Trivedi, P., He, Z., Nostrand, J. D. Van, Albrigo, G., Zhou, J., & Wang, N. (2011). Huanglongbing alters the structure and functional diversity of microbial communities associated with citrus rhizosphere. *The ISME Journal*, *6*(2), 363–383. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2011.100
- Van Zwieten, L., Rose, T., Herridge, D., Kimber, S., Rust, J., & Cowie, A. (2015). Enhanced biological N<sub>2</sub> fixation and yield of faba bean (*Vicia faba L.*) in an acid soil following biochar addition: dissection of causal mechanisms. *Plant and Soil*, 395, 7–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-015-2427-3
- Verhoeven, E., & Six, J. (2014). Biochar does not mitigate field-scale N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in a Northern California vineyard: an assessment across two years. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 191,* 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2014.03.008
- Vitousek, P. M., Čassman, K. E. N., Cleveland, C., Field, C. B., Grimm, N. B., & Hole, W. (2002). Towards an ecological understanding of biological nitrogen fixation. *Biogeochemistry*, *57/58*, 1–45.
- Vitousek, P. M., Menge, D. N. L., Reed, S. C., & Cleveland, C. C. (2013). Biological nitrogen fixation: rates, patterns and ecological controls in terrestrial ecosystems. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *368*, 1–9.
- Voisin, A.-S., Salon, C., Munier-Jolain, N. G., & Ney, B. (2002). Quantitative effects of soil nitrate, growth potential and phenology on symbiotic nitrogen fixation of pea (*Pisum sativum L.*). *Plant and Soil*, 243, 31–42.
- Wagena, M. B., Bock, E. M., Sommerlot, A. R., Fuka, D. R., & Easton, Z. M. (2017). Development of a nitrous oxide routine for the SWAT model to assess greenhouse gas emissions from agroecosystems. *Environmental Modelling and Software*, *89*, 131–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2016.11.013
- Wallenstein, M. D., & Vilgalys, R. J. (2005). Quantitative analyses of nitrogen cycling genes in soils. *Pedobiologia*, *49*, 665–672. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedobi.2005.05.005
- Walley, F. L., Tomm, G. O., Slinkard, A. E., & van Kessel, C. (1996). Allocation and cycling of nitrogen in an alfalfa-bromegrass sward. *Agronomy Journal*, *88*, 834–843.
- Wang, J., Xiong, Z., & Kuzyakov, Y. (2016). Biochar stability in soil: meta-analysis of decomposition and priming effects. *GCB Bioenergy*, *8*(3), 512–523.

https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12266

Weaver, J. E. (1926) Root Development of Field Crops. McGraw-Hill, New York, USA.

- Weng, Z. H., Zwieten, L. Van, Pal, B., Kimber, S., Morris, S., Cowie, A., & Macdonald, L. M. (2015). Plant-biochar interactions drive the negative priming of soil organic carbon in an annual ryegrass field system. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *90*, 111– 121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.08.005
- Xiang, J., Liu, D., Ding, W., Yuan, J., & Lin, Y. (2015). Effects of biochar on nitrous oxide and nitric oxide emissions from paddy field during the wheat growth season. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 104, 52–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.12.038
- Xu, N., Tan, G., Wang, H., & Gai, X. (2016). Effect of biochar additions to soil on nitrogen leaching, microbial biomass and bacterial community structure. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, 74, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2016.02.004
- Yao, Y., Gao, B., Chen, J., & Yang, L. (2013). Engineered biochar reclaiming phosphate from aqueous solutions: mechanisms and potential application as a slow-release fertilizer. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47, 8700–8708. https://doi.org/10.1021/es4012977
- Yao, Y., Gao, B., Zhang, M., Inyang, M., & Zimmerman, A. R. (2012). Effect of biochar amendment on sorption and leaching of nitrate, ammonium, and phosphate in a sandy soil. *Chemosphere*, *89*(11), 1467–1471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.06.002
- Zheng, J., Stewart, C. E., & Cotrufo, M. F. (2012). Biochar and nitrogen fertilizer alters soil nitrogen dynamics and greenhouse gas fluxes from two temperate soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 41, 1361–1370. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2012.0019
- Zheng, W., Sharma, B. K., & Rajagopalan, N. (2010). Using biochar as a soil amendment for sustainable agriculture. *Illinois Department of Agriculture*.